

ITEM 2 PUBLIC EXHIBITION - DRAFT PLANNING PROPOSAL - MIALA HOUSE AND DAIRY COMPLEX - 410 MARSHALL MOUNT ROAD, MARSHALL MOUNT

As part of the Duck Creek/Marshall Vale Precinct Neighbourhood Plan, a potential heritage item known as Miala House was identified on 410 Marshall Mount Road, Marshall Mount. On 27 June 2022 Council considered a report in relation to a draft Neighbourhood Plan for the precinct. This report provided discussion of the potential heritage site which was identified within a consultant report submitted by the proponent during the draft Neighbourhood Planning process. As part of its considerations, Council resolved that:

The heritage significance of 'Miala' House be referred to the Wollongong Local Planning Panel for advice on whether a draft Planning Proposal should be prepared and then reported to Council.

On 31 October 2022, the Wollongong Local Planning Panel recommended that a draft Planning Proposal is prepared to amend the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 2009 to add the site as a local heritage item with an expended curtilage to capture a range of significant elements on the site including the Dairy and a fig tree.

The Local Planning Panel also recommended that as part of the Planning Proposal the Minimum Lot Size for the site be increased to match the proposed curtilage.

This report recommends that Council progress a draft Planning Proposal to public exhibition.

RECOMMENDATION

- 1 A draft Planning Proposal be prepared to amend the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 2009 by:
 - a adding 'Miala' House and Dairy Complex including fig tree*, 410 Marshall Mount Road, Marshall Mount to the Heritage Schedule and Heritage Map, as a local heritage item.
 - b amending the Minimum Lot Size Map to increase the minimum lot size of the proposed heritage curtilage from 449m² to 4999m².
- 2 The draft Planning Proposal be forwarded to the NSW Department of Planning and Environment for a Gateway Determination to enable exhibition.
- 3 Following Gateway Determination, the draft Planning Proposal be exhibited for a minimum period of 28 days.
- 4 Following the exhibition period, a report on submissions be prepared for Council's consideration.
- 5 The NSW Department of Planning and Environment be advised that Council wishes to use its delegations to finalise the draft Planning Proposal.

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS

Report of:Chris Stewart, Manager City StrategyAuthorised by:Linda Davis, Director Planning + Environment - Future City + Neighbourhoods

ATTACHMENTS

- 1 'Miala' Heritage Significance Assessment Report February 2022
- 2 Minutes of Local Planning Panel 31 October 2022
- 3 Draft Planning Proposal Maps

BACKGROUND

In 2020 a draft Neighborhood Plan for the Duck Creek/Marshall Vale Precinct of the West Dapto Urban Release Area was lodged with Council for assessment and consideration. The supporting documentation provided with the proposal included a Historic Heritage Assessment Report prepared by AECOM (dated 14 May 2021). This report highlighted an unlisted, and previously unassessed building on the site known as 'Miala', which it identified as having local heritage significance. The property is located in a remote location on 410 Marshall Mount Road, Marshall Mount.



The property is located within two suburbs, with Duck Creek being the boundary between Marshall Mount and Avondale. The street address is Marshall Mount however Miala house is located in Avondale. Therefore, for this report and the proposed heritage listing, the street address is included in the description.

The AECOM heritage report acknowledged the significance of the property but did not recommend the conservation of the building. This was justified on the basis that the building was not heritage listed and it was argued that the proposed residential subdivision could not accommodate the retention of the building. The proposed road layout in the draft Neighbourhood Plan shows a collector road going through the house, which is consistent with Council's Yallah Marshall Mount Structure Plan.

Council's Heritage staff undertook a preliminary assessment of the heritage significance of the site including a site visit and recommenced that the site should be considered for heritage listing as an outcome of the Neighborhood Planning process.

The proponent subsequently provided an amended version of the AECOM report and engaged Ecological, to prepare a second Heritage Assessment of the property. The Heritage Assessment report (dated September 2021) was prepared as a "Peer Review" of the AECOM study.

Following receipt of this second heritage report, Council's Heritage staff prepared a detailed Heritage Significance Assessment. This report, provided as Attachment 1, includes additional historic research, as well as an analysis of the two heritage reports submitted by the applicant.

The Heritage Significance Assessment undertaken by staff found that the Miala property, including the house, dairy, silo and other remnant farm structures, along with the enclosed garden have heritage significance relating to the history of dairying in the area, as well as direct connections to a number of early prominent land grantees and residents of the area. The report provides a detailed Statement of Significance as follows -

Miala house and surviving dairy, along with the associated infrastructure including cattle ramp, drinking troughs and Silo provide evidence of a small scale, family run dairy complex established from the late Victorian period. The house, whilst modified, remains readily recognisable as a late Victorian farmhouse, whilst the dairy and associated infrastructure retain evidence of this significant historic occupation, which was a key industry at the core of the Illawarra's economy during the second half of the 19th, and much of the 20th century.

The property is associated with one of the first five land grants in the Illawarra, being part of "Macquarie Gift", which was granted to George Johnson of Rum Rebellion fame. The property remained in the ownership of the Johnston and Weston families, through descendants of George Johnston up until 1895. The house was most likely built during the 1880s, during the ownership of either Edward Henry Weston (pre-1884) or Frederick Weston Perry (1884 onward), though an earlier date of construction cannot be ruled out. Later owners of the property included Alderman James Stevenson who, whilst living on the property, played a central role in a wide range of community affairs as well as an important role in the progression of the Illawarra dairy industry through his roles with the Albion Park Dairy Factory, the Royal Agricultural and Horticultural Society as well as many other local community organisations and institutions.

The remote agricultural setting of the Miala complex, and its established gardens, including two large established figs, and backdrop of the Illawarra Escarpment are aesthetically significant. The 500m long driveway including ford crossing provides a dramatic arrival to the complex with the soaring escarpment slopes and cliffs to the north and west of the site adding to the aesthetic significance of the site

The site is likely to retain archaeological evidence relating to the historic development of the homestead complex and to earlier outbuildings and farm structures. Given the length of tenure from the earliest (post colonisation) settlement in the Illawarra, and the evidence in the historic records for tenant farms on the estate from early in its history, the presence of earlier farm buildings that may reveal important historic evidence of tenant-based farming activities cannot be ruled out. Archaeological research has the potential to reveal evidence that may assist with dating and adding to the chronology of development on the site and to close gaps in the available historic record.



The Miala complex is representative of a family run dairy farm, established from the late Victorian period with building and structures that provide evidence of this significant economic activity and occupation.

Surviving dairy complexes are growing increasingly rare in the Illawarra and West Dapto precinct, with few sites providing intact dairy complexes dating from the 1880's surviving throughout the area, with house, dairy and associated facilities and structures intact (albeit modified).

The Council Officer's report recommends listing of the property on the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 2009 as a local heritage item. In May 2022, the applicant agreed to amend the draft Neighbourhood Plan to retain Miala house and proposed a heritage curtilage, which did not include a large fig tree located on site. The fig tree was identified to be removed to facilitate construction of a collector road, which was consistent with Council's Yallah Marshall Mount Road Structure Plan.



Figure 1: Curtilage Map prepared by Urbanco dated April 2022 showing fig tree in top right

On 27 June 2022, the draft Neighbourhood Plan for the Duck Creek/Marshall Vale Precinct was reported to Council. Council resolved that –

- 1 The draft Neighbourhood Plan for the Marshall Vale and Duck Creek precincts be endorsed to progress to exhibition as an amendment to the Wollongong Development Control Plan 2009 Chapter D16 West Dapto Release Area for a minimum of 28 days.
- 2 The landowners within the Marshall Vale and Duck Creek precincts be advised that an Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment Report(s) will be required to be prepared for all properties (excluding 410 Marshall Mount Road) to enable the Neighbourhood Plan to be finalised on those properties.
- 3 The heritage significance of 'Miala' House be referred to the Wollongong Local Planning Panel for advice on whether a draft Planning Proposal should be prepared and then reported to Council.

On 31 October 2022, the Local Planning Panel inspected the site and held a meeting on the matter. The Panel considered the various heritage reports and received representations from the applicant, owner and their heritage consultant. The following advice was provided -



The Panel supports the preparation of a draft Planning Proposal for the heritage listing of Miala House and dairy complex and supports Council's proposed mapping of the curtilage which incorporates the fig tree.

- 1 The Panel considers the fig tree is significant in its own right, as a landscape feature, and should be retained. No evidence has been provided that the tree is unhealthy or at the end of its useful life.
- 2 As part of the Neighbourhood Plan, Council officers need to consider whether there are alternate and feasible road alignments that achieve an appropriate collector road that don't impact on the Miala house and fig tree.
- 3 The Panel considers that the retention of Miala house and dairy complex provides future opportunity for other uses that will complement and enhance the future neighbourhood, similar to Coral Vale at Wongawilli.
- 4 The Panel recommends that as part of the Planning Proposal the Minimum Lot Size for the site be increase[d] to 2000m² or to match the proposed curtilage, to preclude subdivision of the site.

The Panel was of the view that the House, Diary Complex and a significant fig tree on the site have heritage significance and should be included in an draft Planning Proposal for inclusion on Schedule 5 of the LEP with an appropriate curtilage that should not be reduced or subdivided as part of the future development of the site.

The land size of the proposed heritage curtilage area is just over 5000m². To ensure the intent of the Local Planning Panel recommendation is captured, the minimum lot size is proposed to be increased 449m² to 4999m² for the area of the site corresponding to the proposed heritage listing.

The full Panel advice is included as Attachment 2 to this report.

The preferred curtilage which captures the fig tree as shown by the dashed outline in Figure 1.

Should the draft Planning Proposal for heritage listing of the property progress, the Duck Creek/Marshall Vale Neighbourhood Plan will need to be amended to allow for the retention of the proposed heritage item and fig tree. This includes realignment of a collector road that has been identified in Council's Yallah Marshall Mount Road Structure Plan. Internal consultation with relevant Council Divisions indicates that there is scope to realign the collector road to avoid impacting on the dwelling and fig tree, as well as improving safety of the road alignment.

PROPOSAL

The draft Planning Proposal seeks to add an additional heritage item to Schedule 5 and the Heritage Map of the Wollongong LEP 2009 as follows -

'Miala' House and Dairy Complex, including fig tree* - Lot 12 DP 790746, 410 Marshall Mount Road, Marshall Mount. It is noted the asterisk on the listing indicates archaeological potential on the site.

Suburb	Item Name	Address	Property Description	Significance	ltem No.
Marshall Mount	'Miala' House and Dairy Complex including fig tree*	410 Marshall Mount Road	Lot 12 DP 790746	Local	61111

Table 1: Items proposed to be added to Schedule 5 of the Wollongong LEP



The additional item will also require an update to the LEP Heritage Maps to include the proposed heritage curtilage as per the following map -



Figure 2: Heritage Map showing proposed heritage curtilage for 'Miala' House and Dairy Complex including fig tree

The draft Planning Proposal also seeks to amend the Wollongong LEP 2009 Minimum Lot Size Map to increase the minimum lot size from 449m² to 4999m² to match the proposed heritage curtilage of the site as per the recommendation of the Wollongong Local Planning Panel. The proposed minimum lots size is just below the size of the proposed heritage curtilage, which is approximately 5000m² to preclude subdivision and ensure the site is retained with an appropriate curtilage.

An update to the LEP Minimum Lots Size Map is proposed as per the following map -



Figure 3: Proposed Minimum Lots Size Map to amend the LEP maps to increase the minimum lots size of the proposed heritage curtilage area shown as W2.



CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION

The Duck Creek/Marshall Vale Neighbourhood Plan was exhibited from 27 July to 31 August 2022. A range of additional heritage information, including Aboriginal Heritage Assessment is still required to be provided by the proponent. Heritage NSW was referred the heritage documents during the consultation period. No comments have been received.

On 1 December 2022, a report was provided to the Wollongong Heritage Reference Group on the proposed listing. The Group was supportive of 'the preparation and exhibition of a draft planning proposal to add Miala House, Dairy Complex and fig tree to Schedule 5 of the Wollongong LEP 2009 and adopt the proposed curtilage recommended within this report along with the other recommendations of the Wollongong Local Planning Panel and that the ongoing use of the site as a dwelling should be explored'.

If a draft Planning Proposal is progressed, additional amendments will be required to the draft Neighbourhood Plan and associated documents, that indicate retention of Miala House, dairy complex and fig tree.

In May 2022, the applicant agreed to amend the draft Neighbourhood Plan to retain Miala house and proposed a heritage curtilage. Although the proponent's proposed curtilage is not supported, the outcome of this report has been subject to lengthy negotiations and discussions with the landowner and proponent.

If the draft Planning Proposal is endorsed for exhibition, the documents will be forwarded to the NSW Department of Planning and Environment for a Gateway Determination to enable public exhibition. If endorsed, it is proposed that the draft Planning Proposal will be exhibited for a minimum period of 28 days to enable landowner and community comment.

Following the conclusion of the exhibition period, a report on submissions will be prepared and reported to Council for determination as to whether the draft Planning Proposal for the listing of the item on Schedule 5 of the Wollongong LEP should be amended and/or finalised.

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2032 Goal 1 We value and protect our environment.

Our Wollongong 2032 - Community Strategic Plan

It specifically delivers on core business activities, including promote and protect heritage, as detailed in the Land Use Planning service.

CONCLUSION

This report recommends that a draft Planning Proposal to list Miala House and Dairy Complex including fig tree on Schedule 5 of the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 2009 and increase the Minimum Lots Size of the proposed heritage curtilage to 4999m², consistent with the recommendation of the Wollongong Local Planning Panel. It is recommended that the draft Planning Proposal be progressed to the NSW Department of Planning and Environment for a Gateway Determination and subsequent exhibition.







"MIALA"

Heritage Significance Assessment Report



410 Marshall Mount Road, Marshall Mount/Avondale

February 2022 Wollongong City Council



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY

Wollongong City Council acknowledges that the traditional owners of the land to which this study relates are the local Aboriginal tribes of the Dharawal People. The land to which this report relates has a history of Aboriginal use and occupation extending over thousands of years. The land is Aboriginal Country. Council acknowledges the deep cultural connection our local Aboriginal people have with this Country, and the deep cultural attachments that are retained with these lands through their Dreaming, stories and attachment to the land.

Council acknowledges that the community's strong cultural attachments and stories continue to exist and evolve today, and the significant place of Aboriginal Elders, past, present and emerging in the ongoing evolution of our City.

AUTHORSHIP

This report has been prepared by Council's Heritage Staff, Joel Thompson (Coordinator Heritage) and Carly Boag (Heritage Officer). All photographs are by Authors unless otherwise stated.

VERSION CONTROL

Final – February 2022



Contents

1.0	INTRODUCTION4
1.1	STUDY AREA4
1.2	PROJECT SCOPE
1	.2.1 Limitations
2.0	BACKGROUND
2.1	Neighbourhood Plan6
2.2	Yallah Marshall Mount Rezoning6
2.3	Non-Indigenous Heritage Assessment West Dapto Release Area, HLA, 20067
3.0	HISTORY
3.1	SITE HISTORY
3.2	HISTORIC TIMELINE
3.3	HISTORIC THEMES
4.0	PREVIOUS HERITAGE ASSESSMENTS
4.1	AECOM HERITAGE REVIEW
4.2	ECO LOGICAL PEER REVIEW REPORT20
5.0	SITE ANALYSIS AND OBSERVATIONS
5.1	SITE INSPECTION OBSERVATIONS
5.2	OUTBUILDINGS
5.3	CHANGES, MODIFICATIONS AND INTEGRITY
5.4	LANDSCAPE AND SETTING
6.0	SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT
6.1	SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT CRITERIA
6.2	STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
6.3	CURTILAGE ASSESSMENT AND DISCUSSION41
6.0	RECOMMENDATIONS
7.0	CONCLUSIONS
9.0	REFERENCES44
APPE	NDIX 1: Chronological compilation of historic documents and source material



1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report has been prepared to assess the heritage significance of "Miala", a historic dairy homestead and associated buildings, dairy, plantings and gardens. The property is located off Marshall Mount Road, Marshall Mount and is located within the West Dapto Urban Release Area. This report documents a formalised assessment of Heritage Significance for the property and focusses on consideration of the heritage values and significance attached to the house and its outbuildings and plantings, as a rural complex.

This report provides a review and analysis of two previously completed heritage assessments that have been prepared for the property. These reports prepared by AECOM and Ecological have drawn competing conclusions in relation to the heritage significance of the site.

1.1 STUDY AREA

The study area for this report is shown on the Map below:



Figure 1: The "Miala" Property, located at 410 Marshall Mount Road (Lot 12 DP 790746).

Miala House and its associated gardens, dairy and outbuildings, as well as the significant plantings associated with the house are all located within the central area of the property, within the suburb of "Avondale" on the north side of the creek. The access driveway is 500m in length and runs north west from Marshall Mount Road, crossing the creek that splits the property via a ford. The position of the homestead complex on the property is indicated in Figure 2 below:







Figure 2: Map showing 2021 aerial photograph view of Miala House complex within Lot 12. Note the access driveway from Marshall Mount Road, and the location of the house within the "Avondale" suburb boundary.

1.2 PROJECT SCOPE

This report provides a detailed assessment of the heritage significance of "Miala House", along with its associated farm buildings and structures, landscape features and plantings.

Preparation of the report has involved a detailed review, and critique, of the two previous assessments prepared by AECOM and Eco Logical as well as some additional historic research. Additional research has included detailed review of available historic plans of the area, extensive searches of TROVE, analysis of available aerial photography and use of other web resources.

A detailed site inspection was undertaken on 20 October 2021. This visit included an internal and external inspection of the house and dairy as well as an informal interview with the present owner's daughter (Melinda) who grew up on the property and acted as guide during the site inspection. In addition, during the inspection a brief phone interview with the present owner Mrs Fay Duncan was held to discuss certain aspects of the history of the property. Notes from these informal communications have also informed this assessment.



1.2.1 Limitations

It is understood that an Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment Report (ACHAR), including Archaeological Investigations, is currently being undertaken for the site. This ACHAR was not available at the time of finalisation of the Report. The findings, conclusions and any cultural significance or archaeological significance attached to the property stemming from the thousands of years of Aboriginal use and occupation should be considered in terms of whether these may add to the significance assessment within this report. Aboriginal Cultural Heritage values have not been formally considered within this assessment due to the unavailability of this information.

The historic records pertaining to former ownership of the property are limited and certain gaps within the historic records have not been able to be fully closed due to the availability of time and available records.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Neighbourhood Plan

The planning consultant for the developer of the site has lodged a draft Neighbourhood Plan for the Duck Creek/Marshall Vale Neighbourhood Plan area which is currently being considered by Council. The Neighbourhood Plan includes the subject property known as "Miala" located at 410 Marshall Mount Road (Lot 12 DP 790746). The draft Neighbourhood Plan as proposed, would require the demolition of Miala House and all associated outbuildings, as well as surrounding plantings, to provide for the construction of a proposed collector road, as well as to accommodate leveling, stormwater detention and other aspects of the proposed layout.

A preliminary heritage study was submitted to Council with the draft neighbourhood Plan, prepared by AECOM. This report indicated that the property "Miala", located within the study area, held heritage values of local significance. As a result of this information a more detailed assessment of significance was requested from the proponent by Council. Following subsequent revisions, the final AECOM Heritage Study dated 14 May 2021 was provided. This report concludes that Miala House has local heritage significance but suggests that the retention of the property within the proposed neighbourhood Plan is unfeasible.

A second heritage report, prepared as a Peer review of the AECOM study was then prepared by Eco Logical. This report concluded that Miala is not of heritage significance and does not have any archaeological research potential.

A detailed review, assessment and critique of the contents and recommendations of both previous heritage assessment reports is provided separately within section 4.0 of this report.

2.2 Yallah Marshall Mount Rezoning

The site of the proposed Neighbourhood Plan was rezoned as part of the Yallah Marshall Mount Planning Proposal in 2018. This Planning Proposal/Rezoning formed stage 5 of the West Dapto Urban Release Area (WDRA) which had previously been progressed to a draft rezoning proposal but did not proceed, as only Stage 1 and 2 of the WDRA progressed under that initial process.

The Stage 5 area Planning Proposal was progressed through a separate process and resulted in the rezoning of the site in accordance with the below zoning arrangement which has been extracted from the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 2009 Zoning Map:





Figure 3: Land Zoning arrangement under the Wollongong LEP 2009 (Note: R2 = Low Density Residential, C2 = Environmental Conservation, C3 = Environmental Management, C4 = Environmental Living).

It is noted that the site of Miala House and surrounding outbuildings, gardens and vegetation is located in the centre of image in a bend in the creek and is within an area zoned R2 Low Density Residential.

2.3 Non-Indigenous Heritage Assessment West Dapto Release Area, HLA, 2006

In preparation for the West Dapto Urban Release Area (WDRA) rezoning process, a Non-Indigenous Heritage Assessment Report was prepared by HLA Envirosciences, for Wollongong City Council and finalised in 2006. This study considered the entire West Dapto Study area, extending from Kembla Grange in the north, to the southern boundary of the Wollongong LGA.

The report identified a wide range of existing and potential heritage sites and items of interest and was used to guide the heritage outcomes of the WDRA Planning Proposal. This resulted in a number of changes and additions to the heritage schedule for the area.

It is of note that the HLA study does not appear to have identified, considered or explored the potential heritage significance of "Miala House" and the property did not appear to be identified for consideration during the process. This may have occurred due to the remote nature of the property some 500m from Marshall Mount Road and its lack of visibility from public areas, along with the limited available documentation about the property and its history. It is also of note that this initial process imagined a lower density housing output and zoning arrangement for the Yallah Marshall



Mount corridor, with large lot housing planned initially as the residential product within this area of the WDRA.

The Yallah Marshall Mount rezoning, which followed the broader WDRA process was not supported by an area specific historical heritage assessment process. Rather, it relied on the 2006 HLA West Dapto Heritage Study. As such, Miala House, and its potential heritage values were not identified or considered within this rezoning process. The property, and its potential heritage significance therefore had not come to Council's attention until the proposed draft Neighbourhood Plan was submitted. This Neighbourhood Plan proposal included the original AECOM heritage study which highlighted the local heritage significance of the site.



Note – Much of the history and detail presented in the below history of the site has been sourced from Newspaper articles and other records gathered through Trove and Ancestry.com which has added to the historical information provided within the AECOM report. The source materials have been collated from TROVE in a collection of screenshots and extracts within Appendix 1 to this document. The below provides a summarised history which draws on this collated material, along with information provided in the AECOM report.

3.1 SITE HISTORY

3.1.1 Aboriginal History

The study area is located on lands that formed part of Dharawal Country and have been occupied and cared for by the local people of the Dharawal for thousands of years. The Yallah Marshall Mount Aboriginal Heritage Assessment undertaken in 2013 by Austral, and the broader West Dapto Aboriginal Heritage Study prepared by Australian Museum Business Services (AMBS) in 2006 provide a clear indication that the entire West Dapto area contains extensive evidence and retains Aboriginal sites related to this lengthy period of use and occupation.

The preliminary heritage assessment by AECOM and submitted with the draft Neighbourhood Plan for the study area acknowledged the use and potential significance of the study area and identified a number of known sites and potential archaeological deposits within the study area. The AECOM Report also recommended additional Aboriginal archaeological and cultural heritage assessment. This is understood to be being prepared and finalised for separate submission. This work was not finalised at the time of preparation of this report and its findings and recommendations may require further consideration.

3.1.2 Early Land Grant History – "Macquarie Gift"

"Miala House" is located on one of the first five land grants in the Illawarra. This grant, originally known as "Macquarie Gift", was officially granted to George Johnston in January 1817. The historic records indicate that the land was formally surveyed in 1816, and that it was at that time already being occupied by employees of Johnston, who had cattle running on the property. Some historical records suggest that Johnston may have been using the land in question from as early as 1804, with cattle having been brought to the area by Steamer (see for example, the article from South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus 1952 in Appendix 1). If true, this (unsubstantiated) claim would place the grant as likely being the earliest area occupied by white settlers in the Illawarra.

George Johnston had originally arrived in the Colony of New South Wales as Major Johnston, on the first fleet. Johnston was a prominent and senior figure in the colony and rose to prominence as the front man of the Rum Rebellion, which saw the overthrowing of Governor Bligh. He was subsequently shipped back to England, promoted to Lieutenant-Colonel whilst awaiting trial, then convicted of Mutiny, stripped of his titles and narrowly escaped the death penalty. He was then returned to the Colony of NSW, where under Governor Macquarie, he was treated as a reformed character, and granted the favour of a number of land grants, including "Macquarie Gift" (1500 Acres) as well as other favours.

On his return to the colony, in 1814, Johnston married his long-term mistress Esther Abrahams, whom he had met on his first journey to Australia in 1788 and with whom he already had a large family. As Esther was a convict, the formalisation of his relationship prior to the loss of his official military positions would have been seen as scandalous and unbefitting of an Officer of his standing. However,



stripped of his titles, and with Governor Macquarie's insistence that he make an honest woman of his mistress, Johnston was free to marry his convict wife.

During his lifetime, George appears to have had employees oversee his "Macquarie Gift" estate and managed the property at arm's length from his residence "Annandale Farm" in Petersham. This was common to most of the early grants in the Illawarra. The grant would have been allocated with the advantage of assigned convict labour. George's main farming interest was in beef cattle and it is understood the farm was largely used for this purpose during his lifetime.

On the death of George Johnston in 1823, George's son David Johnston inherited the "Macquarie Gift" estate. David was subsequently granted an adjoining land grant to the south-west, which became known as "Johnston's Meadows". David appears to have taken a more direct and active interest in the management of his properties in the Illawarra than his father but would have continued to benefit for some time from the advantages of convict labour.

It is likely that during David's ownership, following the cessation of transportation to the colony, and the availability of convict labour during the 1840's, that the farm would have transitioned into tenanted farm arrangements. This was common across many properties in the Illawarra (and elsewhere) due to the difficulties in clearing and managing a large land holding without the availability of free labour. These leases were often let as "clearing leases" and required the tenant to clear uncleared sections of the farm in exchange for cheap rent and farming rights.

David Johnston died in 1866 and the "Macquarie Gift" grant passed through his daughter Esther Emily Johnston to her husband Edward Henry Weston. Edward Henry Weston was also the first Cousin of David's wife Esther, being the son of Blanche Johnston (who was the sister of David Johnston) and her husband Captain George Weston, resident of "Horsley Park" at Prospect.

3.1.3 Weston's Meadows

Edward and Esther Weston are understood to have taken up residence at their Illawarra Estate shortly after they inherited it around 1866. The "Macquarie Gift" grant subsequently becoming known as "Weston's Meadows". Records suggest that during their time on the property they established themselves within the local community and took an active role in the district. Though their affairs and activities were more tightly associated with Albion Park than with Dapto, as their residence was located in the southern areas of the expanded estate, nearby to the present-day Shellharbour Airport.

The estate had its own private racetrack where the family held picnic races and social events. Edward formed the Illawarra section of the NSW Lancers, which later became the Australian Light Horse. Edward and Esther's son Alick Horsley Weston, married Adelaide Norris of Albion Park. They lived at "The Meadows" where Alick served as an Alderman on Shellharbour Municipal Council, Director of the Illawarra Cooperative Central Dairy, and Treasurer with the Albion Park A.H.&I Show Committee (Shellharbour City Council).

Records and historical references relating to "Weston's Meadows" make it apparent that during Edward's ownership of the estate, and following, the farm was split into various tenancies with many long-term tenants documented as residing on the farm. According to a 12 February 1952 article in the South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus focussing on the sale of the final 400 acres of the Weston Estate, these tenants included a long list, many of whom were notable families in the Illawarra in their own right. These smaller tenanted farms were usually equipped with their own residence and other farm facilities.



3.1.4 Frederick Weston Perry

Frederick Weston Perry was the nephew of Edward Henry Weston, being tied through his mother Julia Maria Perry (nee Weston), who was Edward's sister.

Whilst the property records are incomplete, Frederick Weston Perry appears to have acquired a portion of around 100 acres in the north western portion of his uncle's "Weston's Meadows" property in 1884. Perry registered a cattle brand in his name in that same year at Marshall Mount. An 1890 Land Sale marketing plan for the adjacent "Marshall Mount Estate", and other plans associated with the subdivision held in the Wollongong Library Collection clearly show "Perry" as the owner and occupier of the area now occupied by Miala. The Marshall Mount Estate Plan is provided below (Figure 4) and shows Perry's name adjacent to the boundary of Lot 21.



Figure 4: Marshall Mount Estate Land Sales Plan 1890. Note "Perry" is indicated as owning the Miala lands adjacent to Lot 21.



Newspaper reporting on the outcome of this 1890 Marshall Mount Estate Sale confirms that Perry extended his holding by purchasing Portion 22 of the Marshall Mount Estate (see above plan) adjoining his north western boundary (Illawarra Mercury 1 July 1890).

In 1894 Perry appears to have acquired some form of interest in lands belonging to Mr John Smith. Smith had purchased portions 18 and 19 of the above Marshall Mount Estate sale so it is likely this related to those lands. Perry's interest may have related to a lease which was advertised by Mr Smith for 142 acres of farmland advertised in April 1894 (Illawarra Mercury 28 April 1894). Whilst it is unclear what the nature of the arrangement was, Mr Perry appears to have entered into a bond with the bank as part of the transaction, and subsequently became liable for a debt which he was unable to pay, and which he claimed not to be liable for. This matter led to the bankruptcy of Mr Perry in 1895 and the subsequent sale of Perry's expanded holding by the bank to Mr Patrick O'Brien (Illawarra Mercury 24 October 1895). John Smith's properties were also subsequently sold in 1895 and he also ended up bankrupt shortly after, suggesting that the financial issues around the transaction were significant.

Newspaper coverage of Perry's bankruptcy proceedings provides useful information indicating that Mr Perry had from around 1893 leased his farmlands out to a Mr W. Piper, who was conducting the cattle operations on the property during that time. Mr Perry had sold his cattle to Mr Piper as part of the lease arrangement and received regular rent on which he lived. Mr Perry refers to the improvements he had made to the property during his ownership, however no mention of the construction of any specific buildings is made (Illawarra Mercury 12 December 1895). This may suggest that the house was already on the property when he acquired it in 1884, though this is not certain from the available records.

What is clear from the records is that by the end of Perry's tenure and the sale of the property by the bank in 1895, the house now known as Maila had been constructed, along with two substantial additional farm buildings as these are shown on plans drawn at this time. It is possible that one of these additional buildings is the southern (earlier) portion of the dairy building. See Figure 5.

Patrick O'Brien who purchased the property from the bank following the foreclosure, appears to have been a district court judge presiding at Wollongong Local Court. O'Brien appears to have already been established on a farm in the Kembla Grange area known as "Canterbury". It appears likely that he took a distant involvement in the Miala farm, as little mention is available of his time as owner and it was the bank, not Mr O'Brien, who was advertising for tenants for the farm in the subsequent year (Illawarra Mercury 11 January 1896) which raises some questions over the ownership arrangement.

By 1902 it appears that the farm was acquired by Robert Barron and the farm became known for a time as Barron's Farm. In 1910 Barron's farm was sold to Mr Arthur Moore.

In 1913 Arthur Moore registered a cattle brand at "Miala, Marshall Mount". This appears to be the first available record of the property name being referred to as "Miala", perhaps suggesting that Moore named the property during his tenure. The registration of a cattle brand in his name also suggests Mr Moore was by 1913 taking an active role in the operation of the farm. In 1917 Arthur Moore's son was killed in action whilst fighting in World War I. The following year 1918, Mr Moore placed the property as well as his stock and farm equipment up for sale, so as to retire to Wollongong, suggesting the prospect of running the farm without his son was too much.





Figure 5: 1895 Plan of W. F Perry's portion of George Johnston's 1500 Grant.



In 1918 The farm was purchased from Mr Moore by Mr James Stevenson, a farmer who was already established in Dapto and was already actively involved in various community affairs and organisations. He appears to have moved to his Marshall Mount property shortly after its purchase and been intimately involved in the affairs of Marshall Mount.

In 1928, the South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (see article in Appendix 1 dated 2 March 1928) announced that a public tennis court was to be built at Marshall Mount, on Alderman James Stevenson's farm, immediately adjacent to the public school. It is noted that this "public tennis court" remains to this day, on the private farmland attached to Miala. The tennis court is listed as a heritage item under the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 2009.

In 1933 Mr Stevenson registered a cattle brand to his property "Myala (sic), Marshall Mount".

Mr Stevenson died unexpectedly in 1943 and his obituary highlights him as a very prominent figure in the local community, having a long term role as an Alderman on the Central Illawarra Council, as well as holding various positions within a range of community, agricultural and dairying organisations. His obituary is provided in full in Appendix 1, see Illawarra Mercury 8 October 1943, and South Coast Times & Wollongong Argus of the same date).

It appears Mr Stevenson's family held the estate following his passing, with his son becoming prominent in local media and community events. In 1957 the Miala property was sold to George and Fay Duncan, who ran the property as a family run dairy farm up until the 1990's.

During the 1990's renovations and additions were undertaken to the house, with a north western extension to the building and modifications to the roof form. During the construction period the family temporarily relocated into the dairy building, which underwent modifications to make it suitable as a temporary residence. By this time, the dairying operations had ceased, with the farm being used to graze beef cattle.

In 2018 parts of the site were rezoned for residential development as part of the Yallah Marshall Mount Planning Proposal and rezoning process. The site of Miala House was rezoned to R2 Low Density Residential, and forms part of the broader West Dapto Urban Release Area.

In 2020 a draft Neighbourhood Plan was prepared for the property by a development partner who has acquired an option over the property. This draft plan was lodged for Council's assessment and consideration. The draft Plan was accompanied by a Preliminary Heritage Assessment report prepared by AECOM which identified Miala House as being of local heritage significance.



3.2 HISTORIC TIMELINE

The following timeline/sequence of ownership is provided within the AECOM report and is extracted for information:



This timeline has been substantially extended and expanded below, based on the additional research undertaken within this report. As previously noted, a chronological compilation of source materials is provided within Appendix 1 and provides evidence for the events detailed below.

1816 – Official survey of the first five land grant in the "Five Islands District" undertaken to allocate promised grants in the area. These grants included a promised grant of 1500 acres to George Johnston and incorporated the study area.

1817 - "Macquarie Gift" is officially granted to George Johnston (one of the first 5 land grants in the Illawarra).

1823 – George Johnston dies leaving "Macquarie Gift" to David Johnston (son of George) of "George's Hall". David takes over the "Macquarie Gift" Estate.

1840s – Community and political opposition to transportation of convicts results in a significant reduction and shortage of free convict labour. The use of "clearing leases" as an alternative land management method by wealthy land holders becomes common and abundant.



1850 - Final shipload of convicts transported to NSW.

1866 – David Johnston dies, leaving the "Macquarie Gift" property to his son in law Edward Henry Weston through his daughter Esther.

1866 – Edward Henry Weston and his wife Esther (nee Johnson) take up residence on the "Macquarie Gift" estate (toward Albion Park), and it subsequently becomes known as "Weston's Meadows".

1884 – Frederick Weston Perry (the nephew of Edward Henry Weston) acquires approximately 100 acres of "Weston's Meadows" from his uncle. This portion includes the site of "Miala".

1884 – Government Gazette lists a cattle brand registration at Marshall Mount to Frederick Weston Perry.

1890 – The "Marshall Mount Estate", adjoining the northern and western boundary of the study area, is marketed for sale. The sales plan shows "Perry" as owner/occupier of the Miala property at the time (see Figure 4).

1890 – F. Weston Perry purchases Lot 22 of the "Marshall Mount Estate" adjoining the north-western boundary of his existing holding. (Illawarra Mercury 1 July 1890)

1895 - F. Weston Perry is declared Bankrupt (NSW Government Gazette 1 November 1895).

1895 – Plan of F. Weston Perry's original landholding made (CT Vol. 1235 Fol. 119, DP.60090) showing the Homestead which is now known as "Miala", and two established outbuildings, surrounded by four large, fenced paddocks. This plan appears to have been prepared in connection with the finalisation of Perry's bankruptcy and the subsequent sale of the property by the bank (copy provided within Appendix 1)

1895 – F. Weston Perry's property is sold by the bank under foreclosure procedures to **Mr Patrick O'Brien** of "Canterbury" in Kembla Grange.

1902 - Robert Barron has acquired the Miala Farm.

1910 - Robert Barron sells the farm to Mr Arthur Moore

1913 – Edward Henry Weston dies in Mosman NSW.

1913 – Arthur Moore has a registration of stock brand listed at "Miala, Marshall Mount". This is the first recorded reference to the property name indicating a likelihood that Mr Moore may have named the site.

1917 – Arthur Moore's son is killed in action on the front.

1918 – Arthur Moore sells "Miala" Farm to James Stevenson and retires to Wollongong.

1920 – "Weston Estate" sale undertaken, subdividing and selling off the remaining Weston Estate lands north of Marshall Mount Road (land to east of the Miala property).

1928 – Newspaper article notes that Marshall Mount "public tennis court" to be built on a site located next to the public school on Alderman J. Stevenson's land (this tennis court remains on the land adjacent to the school).

1933 – James Stevenson has a registration of stock brand listed at "Myala (sic), Marshall Mount".



1943 – Alderman James Stevenson (owner of the property) dies suddenly. His death and funeral receive considerable attention due to his extensive contribution to public life and affairs in the Dapto and Albion Park area with his obituary listing an extensive list of voluntary public service (Illawarra Mercury

1952 – Final "Weston's Meadows" land sale involving the subdivision and sale of the remaining 400 acres of the Weston Estate (this is understood to have involved lands to the south of Marshall Mount Road).

1957 – "Miala" Property is purchased by George and Fay Duncan. It appears likely that the estate was purchased from Mr Stevenson's estate. The property remains in the Duncan family's ownership to this day.

1990's – Renovations undertaken to Miala house, involving an extension to the north and west. The Dairy building was modified at this time to provide temporary accommodation during the renovations.

2018 – Parts of the property including the site of Miala House are rezoned to R2 Low Density Residential as part of the West Dapto Urban Release Area.

2020 – Draft Neighbourhood Plan is lodged on behalf of a developer for the site.

3.3 HISTORIC THEMES

In 2011 Wollongong City Council adopted a *Thematic History of the City of Wollongong*, prepared by Dr Terry Kass (2010). This report considered the history of Wollongong in a thematic manner to define significant historic themes relevant to the history and development of the Wollongong LGA. The purpose of this report was to provide a thematic basis for the assessment of historic values attached to heritage places so that potential new heritage items could be many of the themes identified within the report are relevant to the study area.

The following key themes were identified as important historic themes which have relevance to the study area:

- Settling the Illawarra
- Working on the land
- Subdividing the large rural estates
- Developing a dairy industry
- Rural housing

It is clear from the research undertaken within this report that Miala House provides historic evidence of these important historic themes in Wollongong's development.

The following additional themes relating to Aboriginal Cultural Heritage may also have relevance to the study area, depending on the findings and recommendations of the Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment report:

- Living in harmony with the land
- Coping with invasion
- Maintaining a cultural identity



4.0 PREVIOUS HERITAGE ASSESSMENTS

This section provides a brief discussion, critique and analysis of the two previously prepared heritage reports that have been submitted by the developer in support of the draft Neighbourhood Plan.

4.1 AECOM HERITAGE REVIEW

AECOM provided a Heritage Review Report in support of the draft Neighbourhood Plan. A number of versions have since been provided of this report, with each finding that Miala House is of Local heritage Significance. The latest version of the report submitted by the proponent is dated 14 May 2021.

The report provides a reasonably detailed discussion of the history of the "Miala" property and considers the significance of the site under the NSW Heritage criteria within Table 5 (provided as an extract below):

APPLICATION OF CRITERIA				
Historical significance SHR criteria (a)	The homestead is considered of local significance being associated with the establishment of an early dairying industry in the area. The original land grant established an early dairy, and the subsequent subdivision lead to the continuation of this industry. The homestead present today remains as one of the earliest associated with the late Nineteenth Century subdivision of the area. Despite renovations and additions to the building, the house and facade remaining relatively intact.			
Historical association significance SHR criteria (b)	The land was formerly associated with George Johnstone an early influential and prominent person associated with the establishment of the early colony. While the land was associated with his early land grant, the property today does not reflect or is associated with him today. The property is not considered to meet the threshold for State or local listing under this criterion.			
Aesthetic significance SHR criteria (c)	The homestead retains particular characteristics associated with the original late Victorian design and aesthetics. These have been diminished by the extensions and renovations that have been undertaken. Specifically, these relate to the internal walls and floors within the original footprint of the house. The external cladding, roof and some of the windows have also been replaced. Despite this, the Homestead is considered to be of local significance under this criterion.			
Social, cultural or spiritual significance SHR criteria (d)	The homestead is not considered to have social, cultural or spiritual significance and does not meet the threshold for listing under this criterion.			
Cultural or natural history significance SHR criteria (e)	Archaeological potential has been identified to be present on the property, both related to the homestead and to the former dairy industry. This potential may include remain associated with the original kitchen and laundry area, well(s) and privies. The location of these items would assist in better understanding the former layout of the homestead complex dating from the late Nineteenth Century. These remains would have local research value and significance under this criterion.			
Rarity SHR criteria (f)	The homestead can be considered to be of local significance for rarity significance. Reference to the Wollongong Heritage Study (McDonald McPhee Pty Ltd et al., 1991) indicates that homesteads dating to the Nineteenth Century that are in good condition are not common and it is these that give "the give the general landscape its character". This homestead building has been extended and modified internally and externally, however, some of the internal layout and external facades do still represent some of the late Nineteenth Century Victorian period characteristics.			
Representativeness SHR criteria (g)	The homestead is considered to be of a typical of a modified and extended late Victorian architectural design; however, it is not considered to be complete or intact to be considered to be a good representative example. As such, the homestead is not considered to meet the State or local heritage listing under this criterion.			
Integrity/Intactness	Overall, the building is in good condition as the building was repaired and modified with extensions undertaken from the 1980s onwards. The original front and southern facades are considered in good condition.			

Table 5 Significance Assessment (against NSW heritage significance criteria)



The report draws the following conclusion about the heritage significance of the site within Section 4.3.1.4:

Statement of Significance

Miala homestead is considered to be of local historical, aesthetic and rarity significance. The homestead is one of the earliest remaining buildings from the Nineteenth Century in the area. The building has undergone significant modifications, including internal modifications and extensions to the house. The front and southern facades are reminiscent of the Late Victorian period and retain some of this aesthetic style despite extensions to the property. The homestead also contains research potential in the form of potential historical archaeological remains associated with the formation and running of the homestead and dairying complex.

The report includes a discussion of "Historic Heritage Opportunities and Constraints" in Section 7.0. This discussion includes the following comments:

The identification of Miala House within the Duck Creek precinct as a locally significance item (sic) presents a constraint for the neighbourhood plan. The house has not previously been identified in the Wollongong local heritage study. Roads, drainage and other services associated with the proposed Neighbourhood Plan layout would impact the house site, and any potential historical archaeological remains associated with its former layout.

Opportunities to retain the homestead and realign the access road around the Miala house are not possible, and are constrained by the larger urban design considerations, including road, topographic, earthworks and bushfire protection.

The statement that retention of the building is not possible is stated as fact and is then explained upon through the inclusion of material provided by the developer's planning consultant (Urbanco) as evidence. The comments provided by Urbanco are detailed on page 59-60 of the AECOM report. This essentially explains that as the retention of the heritage item has not been planned for in the design of the Neighbourhood Plan, that the location of the proposed roads, relevant planned levels and arrangements would not allow the retention of the house. This discussion does not appear to provide any actual consideration of alternative layout options that may be considered to provide for the retention of the elements of significance, or any rigour of assessment.

It is of note that one of the core contentions offered by Urbanco to demonstrate their inability to retain the house remains the location of an indicative collector road which is shown on Council's structure plan as running through this part of the site. It has been repeatedly advised by Council's Urban Release team and Council's Transport Engineers that this planned roadway can comfortably be realigned to accommodate the retention of the house and the adjacent Fig Tree, without any real impact on its purpose or function within the structure plan. Council has raised no objection to the realignment of the roadway.

The Management Recommendations of the AECOM Report include the following:

"Miala Homestead has been assessed as having local heritage significance and would be impacted based on development plans within the current Neighbourhood Plan (and subsequent detailed designs as part of the future development). Opportunities for the retention of Miala house have been investigated, however, retention of the item is not considered possible given topographic, layout, earthworks and bushfire protection constraints.



When detailed design for the subdivision, including all road, crossing and service locations, has been prepared, a Statement of Heritage Impact is required to be prepared to determine the appropriate mitigation measures for Miala house and associated historical archaeological remains. Recommendations may include undertaking additional heritage recording, including archival recording of the homestead, associated buildings and cultural planting be completed prior to any impact works. This would be undertaken in accordance with Heritage NSW's guidelines How to Prepare Archival Records of Heritage Items (1998) and Photographic Recording of Heritage Items using Film or Digital Capture (2006).

In regards to historical archaeological potential identified at Miala House, any Development Application (DA) for works incorporating significant ground disturbance is to be accompanied by an historical archaeological research design (HARD). Subject to the report, a s140 permit application to Heritage NSW, may be required to be submitted prior to any works starting on the site."

Whilst the conclusion of the AECOM report that Miala House is of local heritage significance is supported, it is not clear from the reporting provided why the site is not suitable and capable of retention. No evidence of alternative subdivision arrangements has been provided or considered to a conclusion that the house cannot be retained.

The dwelling appears to be in remarkably good condition for its age, and whilst some issues and maintenance are to be expected, no evidence of fundamental issues with the structural integrity or condition of the dwelling, or the significant outbuildings has been provided within the report. It is understood that the dwelling was occupied until recently but is now understood to be vacant, with only occasional use by visiting family.

The AECOM report also discussed and acknowledges the extent and nature of the more recent modifications to the dwelling, yet still concludes that the site is of significance. The archaeology and landscaping around the site is also acknowledged in the assessment.

4.2 ECO LOGICAL PEER REVIEW REPORT

The Eco Logical Heritage Assessment Report was prepared as a peer review of the AECOM study and is dated 15 September 2021. This report appears to provide very limited additional historical research or information to inform the assessment. Rather, it would appear to rely largely upon the historical information and detail provided within the AECOM Report, and an analysis of the available historic aerial photography of the site from 1948-2021.

It is unclear from the report whether the author has visited the property. However, given the report was prepared during a period of Covid lockdowns and given some of the inclusions and discussion within the report, it appears possible that no site inspection was undertaken. Some of the conclusions and assumptions are at odds with what can be viewed on-site.

The following key errors and deficiencies in the Eco Logical report are of particular concern:

1. Historic Research

The Eco Logical report references a 2005 Tamara Hynd study of 100 early farm and house sites in Shellharbour Local Government Area and notes that it does not reference Miala House. This is taken to indicate that Miala was not regarded as having heritage significance. The report fails to recognise or acknowledge that this report was prepared for Shellharbour Council and relates entirely to the Shellharbour Local Government Area. It is therefore clear that the report would not have considered



Miala as it is located in the Wollongong LGA, outside of the study area of its assessment. The Hynd (2005) report does however contain a range of relevant background historical assessment and thematic analysis that could be, but seemingly has not been, considered. A link to the Tamara Hynd Study is provided in the references section of this report.

The Ecological report fails to reference or consider the West Dapto Heritage Study by HLA which was undertaken in 2006 for Wollongong City Council. This is effectively the equivalent assessment to the Hynd report but is relevant to the West Dapto Urban Release Area. It is noted and acknowledged (as mentioned previously within this report) that this study also fails to acknowledge the Miala Property and it is unclear whether the site was identified, visited or assessed as part of its assessment.

2. Fig Trees

Page 3 of the report indicates that "*The large fig tree adjacent to the northeast corner of the building is not present in the 1948 aerial image (Figure 3)*". This is clearly untrue. The tree is present in the 1948 aerial photograph as shown within Figure 6 below (Note – the Figure 3 reference above refers to figure 3 from the Eco Logical report, which is extracted into Figure 6 of this report):





Figure 3: 1948 aerial image showing arrangement of buildings

Figure 6: Left Image – 1948 Aerial photo showing that the large Fig to the north east of the house was present in 1948. Right Image – Extract of Figure 3 from the ecological report which has been cropped, excluding the Fig to the north east of the house.

Though significantly less mature in the 1948 aerial photograph of the site than it is today, it is clear that Figure 3 (shown on the right) in the Ecological report has simply been cropped to close to the buildings, and the Fig Tree is not included within the frame.

The Fig in question clearly pre-dates 1948 by a reasonable margin as it appears as an established, yet probably young tree at this time.

3. Dairy Building

Page 4 of the Eco Logical report includes the following statements in relation to the Dairy:

"Other ancillary structures include a simple, rectangular timber and corrugated iron clad shed constructed on a concrete slab which AECOM (2021:46) claim to be a dairy. It would be unusual to construct a dairy in such close proximity to the house on a property off (sic) that size and internally there is no evidence of cattle stalls and associated milking equipment. Windows are present along the eastern facade, comprising both double casement and double hung, all of which appear to be modern installations. The building has been subject to significant modifications in the 1990s when the owner was living in it and very little of the structure's original fabric remains."



These comments strongly suggest that the author of the report has not visited the site and inspected the dairy building, as the structure is readily identifiable as a modified dairy. Tell-tale features include the shaded raised milk storage/collection area on the south east of the building, self-closing doors to the western facade, surrounding concrete slabs with evidence of past fencing and gates for cattle movement, surrounding circular concrete cattle troughs, nearby stock hold and cattle ramp, and the filled in milking pit in the centre of the dairy space. These all provide clear indications of the buildings former function.

Further, personal communications with the owner Fay Duncan, and her daughter Melanie, quickly clarified that the building was indeed a dairy. Its proximity to the house was considered an important part of its function for a family run dairy. These discussions also confirmed that the dairy was present when the Duncan's purchased the property in the 1950's, and explained the major modifications made to the building in the 1990's, when the dairy was converted for use as a temporary residence for the family whilst Miala House was being renovated. This saw the filling in of the milking pit, the cladding of part of the eastern façade with timbers from the old Bull Pen (which was previously located to the north of the house), the fitting of some new window fixtures and the closing up of some of the larger openings in the building.

Regardless of the above changes and the cessation of the use of the dairy for that purpose, the function of the building and evidence within the structure of these historic phases and adaptations remain present and are easily understood from the evidence on site. The dairy remains readily recognisable as an early, expanded and later modified and repurposed dairy building and is located in a manner typical of a family run dairy operation, where the proximity of the dairy to the house was an important practicality that allowed children and family members to assist with the milking operations.

4. Modifications to Miala House

The Eco Logical report claims that the majority of the original house has been demolished/rebuilt/redeveloped. This is unsubstantiated. Whilst modification has occurred, much of the original building has been retained and appears essentially intact. The additions and alterations to the building are generally sympathetic and likely to represent changes that may have been considered satisfactory if the building were indeed heritage listed. The majority of the substantial change to the house is to the north western side, which effectively represents the "rear", and includes some significant roof-form changes, and alterations to expand the building.

Whilst these modifications are significant, it is clear from the internal and external fabric that the modifications have been undertaken in a sympathetic manner, and that the original configuration and detail of the house have in many cases been retained or are readily identifiable. The building remains identifiable as a remnant early farmhouse, likely dating to the late Victorian era. It has been expanded and modified to provide a more practical and functional layout and to better capitalise on the northern aspect of the house through reasonably sympathetic additions and modifications.

These modifications are indicative of the changes to the properties use and the changing role of the site as it moved away from dairy farming to accommodating beef cattle. The original layout and configuration of the house, and the expanded areas are able to be clearly understood through joins in the flooring, and the arrangement and configuration of walls and ceilings in the interiors of the house.



5. Dating of Miala House

The Eco Logical report concludes that the house was built around 1897 based on a plan of that date existing and no earlier evidence having been found by Eco Logical. A DP plan dated 1895 confirms that even this date is at least two years out (see Figure 5). The study (along with the AECOM report) assumes that there was no earlier phase to the occupation of this site on the basis that the property was part of a broader holding known originally as "Macquarie Gift" and later "Weston's Meadows". However research indicates that:

- a) The house and two substantial outbuildings including the dairy, were located on the 1895 Deposited Plan and were clearly established at this time. Based on available evidence, it is possible that F. Weston Perry had occupied the site from 1884 and that he was well established on the property prior to 1890. Given this, the house is highly likely to date to at least the 1880's, though an earlier date of construction cannot be ruled out as it is unclear if Perry constructed the dwelling, or whether it was already in place at his arrival.
- b) There are indications in the historical records that indicate that "Macquarie Gift", which became "Weston's Meadows" had, from early in its history, a large number of tenant farmers who had their own farming operations occurring on the site as part of long-term tenancy arrangements (see for example South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus article dated 18 February 1852). This was a common agricultural practice on large early estates and often occurred as a means of allowing land grantees to meet the requirements of their grants, which were generally issued under clearing leases (requiring the clearing of land within set timeframes by the Government of the day).

Given this, earlier phases and dates relating to the occupation of this area of the broader estate cannot be dismissed. The raised, flattened nature of the land in close proximity to the creek (fresh water supply) would have made this an attractive location for earlier buildings and it is clear that the estate was divided into smaller tenancies with tenant farmers in residence.

6. Conclusions about Archaeological Potential

On the basis of Eco Logical's assumption that there was no earlier occupation than the existing dwelling and outbuildings which they claim were built around 1897, the potential for the site to contain significant archaeology has been ruled out. On this basis Eco Logical suggest that the site has low archaeological potential and that there is no need for further archaeological assessment. This contradicts the findings of the AECOM study who indicated the site has archaeological research potential.

As noted above, based on the historic research outlined within this report, it is clear that the "Weston's Meadows" estate was divided up into tenanted farms from early in the history of the property. It is also clear that many of these leases were long term and formed around close family bonds and connections with both the Johnston and Weston Families. The available evidence also highlights a likelihood that the farm was already well established prior to the 1897 plan referenced by Eco Logical and which confirms the presence of the existing house, and potentially the dairy building.

Whilst concrete evidence of the earlier construction of buildings and dwellings on this part of the site has not been located, it is the authors view that this absence of documentary evidence could be argued to actually increase the potential significance of the archaeological record, as it may provide historic information that is not available through any other source. Further, any archaeology found on the site that relates to tenant-based farming practices on very early Illawarra Estates may provide rare



and important archaeological evidence and insight into this widespread practice of tenanted farms being let under clearing leases in the Illawarra. This is an area that has not been well studied and understood.

Given the location of the site on one of the first five land grants in the Illawarra, and the potential very early date of establishment of buildings and activity on the site (having been occupied from at least 1817), the archaeological record from this site has the potential to directly inform our understanding of the development phasing and chronology of occupation on the site.

It is feasible (and potentially likely) that the location of Miala could have accommodated earlier farm buildings, as the creek would have provided a natural farm separator, with the land Miala is located on providing a relatively flat, raised area, close to fresh water and with the necessary conveniences for an early settler's dwelling. It is clear from other sites within the West Dapto precinct, that it was common to place new farmhouses in close proximity to earlier dwellings on the site.

7. Conclusions about significance

The Ecological Study concludes that "Miala" has no heritage value, has low archaeological potential and is not worthy of further assessment. This conclusion contradicts the findings of the AECOM report despite very limited additional historic research having been undertaken, and seemingly without having undertaken a site inspection.

These conclusions of the Eco Logical report are disputed.

On the basis of the above critique, there are significant deficiencies and oversights within the Eco Logical Report and that some of its key assumptions are incorrect or questionable. As such, the conclusion that the house is not of heritage significance cannot be supported.



5.0 SITE ANALYSIS AND OBSERVATIONS

5.1 SITE INSPECTION OBSERVATIONS

A site inspection was undertaken on 20 October 2021. This visit included an internal and external inspection of the house and dairy as well as an informal interview with the present owner's daughter (Melanie) who acted as guide during the site inspection. In addition, during the inspection a brief phone interview with the present owner Mrs Fay Duncan was held to discuss certain aspects of the history of the property. These informal communications have informed this assessment and are included where relevant within this section.

Miala House is barely visible from Marshall Mount Road. The approach to Miala is via a 500m long entry drive, which includes a Ford crossing of the creek line adjacent to the house. The house becomes visible along the approach, highlighting its striking setting on a bend in the adjacent creek-line, and its striking backdrop of the Illawarra Escarpment.



Figure 6: Miala House from partway along the driveway approach. Photo looking northwest.

Miala House is readily recognisable as a Victorian Era farmhouse. The "front" of the house faces east and is visible on the approach along the lengthy driveway. The eastern and southern facades as viewed on the approach retain the typical characteristics of a generous, yet not overstated weatherboard farmhouse of the period. The original simple hipped roof form is retained as viewed from these two sides. The original posted veranda to the eastern and southern elevation remains generally intact and for the most part, original timber doors and windows are retained.





Figure 7: View of front of house from the south east, adjacent to the driveway.

Figure 7 shows that a sunroom has been added to the north east of the house under a separate hipped roof, adjoining the original veranda profile (right of image). An additional hipped wing has been added at the south west corner of the southern veranda, enclosing a modern ensuite and walk in robe to the main bedroom (left of image). The roofing has been replaced in full, and original chimneys have been removed or cut down beneath the roof form and are no longer visible.

The northern side of Miala (Figure 8) has undergone significant changes, with a large, hipped roofed wing addition expanding to the north. The new northern wall alignment aligns with the original veranda extent, with a new traditional styled veranda having been added along the northern side and adjoining to the separately enclosed sunroom in the eastern corner (left of image). The new addition has been built in a traditional style and continues the use of materials and details from the original house.

It is noted that the rough-sewn and aged historic decking timbers used along the new northern veranda were noted by the owner's daughter as having been re-used from the old fence that surrounded the bull pen, and which was located to the north of the house but was removed during the renovations to create the northern gardens.







Figure 8: Northern façade of Miala.

This northern elevation retains little significance, as it is essentially a new addition, however it has been constructed in a reasonably sympathetic manner, with matching materials and details, and is effectively to the "rear" of the property as viewed on the current driveway approach. The additions do not have a significant negative impact on the significance or setting of the historic dwelling.

Internally, the construction detail retains evidence of the original wall alignments and ceiling arrangements so that the earlier configuration can be interpreted in the fabric making it clear that the additions did not involve wholesale demolition and replacement of fabric.

Similarly, as shown in Figure 9, the western façade of the building has been modified and does not represent significant fabric as these are rear additions to the building that are recent, though continuing the use of traditional materials.



Figure 9: Western Façade of Miala. This elevation was modified in the 1990's additions and adaptations and does not represent significant fabric.



The southern façade includes elements of the later additions, including the hipped roof wing enclosing the ensuite (centre of image), and the southern side of the north western extension (left of image) as shown in Figure 10 below. At right of image, the original hipped roof form, and traditional veranda arrangement is retained.



Figure 10: Southern façade showing recent additions to left of image, with the original veranda configuration and hopped roof form (right of image). Note the position of the silo to far left.

Figure 11 (below) shows the more traditional form of the original building and veranda arrangement with the large established Fig to the north east of the house dominating the right of image.



Figure 11: Southern façade of Miala cottage showing original veranda detail and original intact hipped roof form (right of image) and additions (left of image). Note the large established Fig.



5.2 OUTBUILDINGS

The site contains four outbuildings of note within the assessment. These include the Dairy, the Silo and the Barn, with a modern garage that is not discussed in detail also being present. These are discussed below.

Dairy

The dairy building appears to have been built in two main stages, with the southern portion likely to be the same structure shown on the 1895 plan. The building appears to have been expanded to the north with a masonry addition, and has clearly undergone various stages of modification and change.

The south western corner of the building retains a raised milk storage/loading area for the storage of milk awaiting collection as shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12: Southern end of dairy building, showing raised milk storage area and recent vertical slab cladding (recycled bull pen fencing) and residential door which were added to the building during the 1990's modifications.

The building retains the typical form and structure of a dairy as shown in Figures 13 and 14, as well as extensive evidence of changes and modifications.






Figure 13: Southern façade of dairy building. Note the western addition, slab areas surrounding, and corrugated circular water trough. Note also the substantial and established Fig to right of building.



Figure 14: Eastern façade of dairy showing phased construction, modifications and recladding.

The dairy was most recently modified in the 1990's to provide temporary accommodation for the owners whilst they were renovating the house. The milking pit in the central space of the dairy was filled with concrete, with the eastern side of the building reclad in timbers salvaged from the old Bull Yard located north of the house (personal communication from Melanie – owner's daughter). A number of changes to reduce the size of the openings and provide infill windows were made at this time. Further, some of the surrounding fencing and gates providing for cattle movement have been removed (though evidence remains). The dairy building retains surrounding water troughs and a stone cattle ramp relating to the use of the area as a dairy.





Figure 15: Remnant stone/concrete cattle ramp nearby to Dairy.

The interior of the dairy building has been modified, through the filling in of the milking pit, cladding and filling in of some larger openings in wall panels and introduction of a ceiling (among other modifications as shown in Figure 16 below.



Figure 16: Interior of part of the dairy building, showing modifications including the filled in central milking pit.

Silo



The property retains a large silo structure constructed from corrugated formed concrete. The structure pre-dates 1948 and provides a significant feature in the area. The silo is located to the northwest of the house (refer to Figure 10). Whilst no research into the age of the silo has been undertaken to date, these corrugated silos are not uncommon in the area, with other examples believed to date to the early 1900's.



Figure 17: Detail of corrugated concrete silo located to the north west of the house. The flat roof structure tied to the ground with wires.

Barn

It is clear from the available evidence that the Barn has undergone a number of phases of construction and substantial changes. This is shown in the historic aerial photography of the site which is provided within the AECOM and Ecological reports. The existing barn does not appear to be materially significant within the complex, however, its location, and function in supporting the farming operation have been significant. Archaeological evidence of earlier structures in this location may also be of significance given the location of earlier buildings in the 1895 plan for the site (see Figure 5).





Figure 18: Showing detail of recent barn construction. The barn appears to have been constructed using recycled materials from an earlier barn of structure (as was indicated by Melinda on site).

5.3 CHANGES, MODIFICATIONS AND INTEGRITY

Miala has undergone various modifications over time, including some significant modifications undertaken during the 1990's. There are no records available relating to the extent of works undertaken. The AECOM report (in Figure 25 of that report) provides a marked up aerial photograph of the property indicating the changes made to the property during this work. This image is extracted from the AECOM report and provided below to assist the discussion.







Figure 25 Homestead showing approximation of original footprint (red) and modifications (blue)

Figure 19: Extract of Figure 25 from the AECOM report, which provides a useful explanation of the changes made to the building in the 1990s (unapproved) modifications.

As shown above, the modifications involved substantial roofline changes to the north western and western areas of the property, to envelope the majority of the original north facing veranda area into expanded north facing rooms labelled "Northern Extension". With the exception of the room in the north-eastern corner of the house which retains its original form and configuration. Though its northern window now opens into an enclosed section of veranda that adjoins the separate form of the sunroom.

5.4 LANDSCAPE AND SETTING

The Miala farm complex is located within a striking setting on the foothills of the Illawarra escarpment as shown in Figure 20 below. The house and farm buildings are located on a flat bench which sits high above a bend in the adjacent creek line (Duck Creek). The house is surrounded by a number of large and established Figs, with one to the south west of the house, and another on the north east. Additional established trees including conifers provide an established setting to the house. The house is surrounded by a traditional style picket fence, with a cattle grate to the main entry and indicating the arrival at the house yard at the end of the 500m long driveway access.







Figure 20: View to house from midway along the driveway access showing the striking escarpment backdrop, with the ford crossing centre right of photo, and the established Figs and vegetation surrounding the house.



Figure 21: Miala showing the picket fence and garden setting of the house with escarpment backdrop behind. Note the cattle grate to the entry.



The gardens around the house are well established and well-tended, despite the fact that the property is currently vacant. The garden to the north of the house is a recent addition, having only been established in its current picturesque form to support the recent renovations to the house.



Figure 22: The more recently established picturesque garden to the north of the house. Whilst not part of the history of the house, the garden responds to the recent additions and modifications to the house.

The fenced gardens surrounding the house and the large established Figs to the north east and south west of the house contribute to the buildings significance and contribute to the established setting of the house. The Fig to the south west of the house appears to have some health issues but both trees make a significant contribution to the significance of the place.



6.0 SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT

6.1 SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

The following Table provides a comparison of the two previous heritage assessment reports Assessment of Significance against the NSW Heritage Act 1977 in the middle two columns, with the outcome of this assessment on the right. This assessment against the heritage significance criteria has been prepared by applying the Heritage NSW *Assessment of Heritage Significance Guidelines* (The Guidelines).

CRITERIA	AECOM	ECOLOGICAL	WCC COMMENT
CRITERIA A – Historical Significance An item is important in the course or pattern of the local area's cultural or natural history.	AECOM The homestead is considered of local significance being associated with the establishment of an early dairying industry in the area. The original land grant established an early dairy, and the subsequent subdivision lead to the continuation of this industry. The homestead present today remains as one of the earliest associated with the late Nineteenth Century subdivision of the area. Despite renovations and additions to the building, the house and facade remaining relatively intact.	ECOLOGICAL Dairy farming is not evidence of a significant human activity, Miala has incidental connections with historically important activities or processes and the house has been so altered that it can no longer provide evidence of a particular association. The property no longer functions as a dairy and therefore does not maintain the continuity of a historical process or activity.	 WCC COMMENT Miala is located on one of the first five land grants in the Illawarra, "Macquarrie Gift". The house appears from the historic information available likely to have been built by family descendants of the original grantee, either under the ownership of Edward Henry Weston prior to 1884, or by his nephew Frederick Weston Perry who purchased the Miala property from his uncle in 1884. Dairy farming represents a significant theme in the history and development of Wollongong, Family run dairy farms were the dominant industry in Marshall Mount and made a significant contribution to the economy of the Illawarra for a significant period of time. "Miala" was likely built in the 1880's (or earlier) to support a dairy farming operation. Whilst the ownership of the farm changed on numerous occasions, the house and the surrounding outbuildings were developed and adapted to provide for the operation and running of family run dairy operations. Miala provides good physical evidence of And through later owners such as Alderman James Stevenson had direct links to the establishment of the Albion Park Dairy Factory and the Marshall Mount Creamery. Whilst the farm is no longer used for dairying, the site retains an ongoing connection to cattle farming, and retains a range of physical evidence including the (modified) dairy building, cattle infrastructure, and silo. The Guidelines for inclusion note that a site should be associated with a significant activity or historical phase. There is no exclusion based on change of use.
			Therefore, the site meets the criteria at a local level.
B – Associative Significance An item has strong or special associations with the life or works of a person, or group of persons, of importance in the local area's cultural or natural history.	The land was formerly associated with George Johnstone an early influential and prominent person associated with the establishment of the early colony. While the land was associated with his early land grant, the property today does not reflect or is associated with him today. The property is not considered to meet the threshold for	Miala is not associated with a significant event, person, or group of persons.	The Miala property formed part of one of the first five land grants of the Illawarra, granted to George Johnston, who was associated with the Rum Rebellion. The property had a long standing association with the Johnston/Weston families, and appears highly likely to have been built by descendants of the grantee, either pre-1884 during the ownership of Edward Henry Weston, or by his nephew Frederick Weston



	State or local listing under this criterion.		Perry. The Weston's are a well-known family in the history of Dapto/Albion Park and Shellharbour. "Miala" was later the farm of Alderman James Stevenson during the 1920's to 1940's during whish time Stevenson played critical roles in the establishment and running the local dairy industry including the establishment of the Albion Park Dairy Factory whilst also surving a significant period on the Central Illawarra Council. The site meets this criteria at a local level.
C – Aesthetic Significance An item is important in demonstrating aesthetic characteristics and/or a high degree of creative or technical achievement in the local area.	The homestead retains particular characteristics associated with the original late Victorian design and aesthetics. These have been diminished by the extensions and renovations that have been undertaken. Specifically, these relate to the internal walls and floors within the original footprint of the house. The external cladding, roof and some of the windows have also been replaced. Despite this, the Homestead is considered to be of local significance under this criterion	Miala is a highly modified common, simple, house. It is not a major work by an important designer or artist, does not have landmark or scenic qualities and is not aesthetically distinctive. The house does not exemplify a particular taste or style and there are no views to the property from Marshall Mount Road or North Macquarie Road.	The Miala property retains the typical characteristics of an early historic family dairy property, with the dairy buildings, associated dairy infrastructure and large concrete silo retained. Whilst some modifications have occurred and active dairying has ceased, the property maintains a continuous connection to cattle farming. The landscape setting of the Homestead Complex including the established Fig Trees, gardens and homestead setting, combined with the long meandering driveway with ford crossing, and striking escarpment backdrop contribute to the aesthetic significance of the dairy complex. The site meets this criteria at a local level.
D – Social Significance An item has strong or special association with a particular community or cultural group in the local area for social, cultural or spiritual reasons.	The homestead is not considered to have social, cultural or spiritual significance and does not meet the threshold for listing under this criterion.	Apart from the family who own the property, Miala is not important for its associations with an identifiable group nor is it especially valued by the community.	Due to the remoteness of the property, and its limited visibility to the community in recent years, the homestead site does not meet this criteria. It is noted that the broader property also retains the already heritage listed tennis court adjacent to the Marshall Mount School Site, which was established in the 1920's as a "Public Tennis Court" on the private property of Alderman James Stevenson. This element of the site, which is already heritage listed may retain some level of social significance in the community.
E – Research Potential An item has potential to yield information that will contribute to an understanding of the local area's cultural or natural history.	Archaeological potential has been identified to be present on the property, both related to the homestead and to the former dairy industry. This potential may include remain associated with the original kitchen and laundry area, well(s) and privies. The location of these items would assist in better understanding the former layout of the homestead complex dating from the late Nineteenth Century. These remains would have local research value and significance under this criterion.	farm like many others in the	The site is considered to have research potential through the potential archaeological record. Given the early occupation of the grant (from at least 1817), the evidence for early tenant farmers having established farmlets, and the limited records available to confirm the history of the property, date of construction of the dwelling and associated buildings, and the potential for earlier buildings on the raised area, north of the creek, the archaeological record is considered likely to provide evidence that will add to and assist clarification of the historic record. The sites contribution to the dairy industry in the area, and association with the families of the original land grantee add to the potential significance of the archaeological record. In the event that the site is found to provide evidence of earlier occupation (pre 1884) it is



_	_		
5	7	6	
,	1	U	

			likely that this would provide evidence of tenant farming operations in the area. An area that is not well documented in the historic record and which has not been the subject of any detailed research. Under the Guidelines, the site should be included if it has the potential to yield new or further substantial scientific and/or archaeological information. The site meets this criteria at a local level.
F – Rarity An item possesses uncommon, rare or endangered aspects of the local area's cultural or natural history.	The homestead can be considered to be of local significance for rarity significance. Reference to the Wollongong Heritage Study (McDonald McPhee Pty Ltd et al., 1991) indicates that homesteads dating to the Nineteenth Century that are in good condition are not common and it is these that give "the give the general landscape its character". This homestead building has been extended and modified internally and externally, however, some of the internal layout and external facades do still represent some of the late Nineteenth Century Victorian period characteristics.	Miala is not rare, hundreds of small weatherboard houses are still extant in the LGA and across NSW, many much older than 1897. Miala is not of exceptional interest and does not provide evidence of a defunct custom, way of life or process activity that is in danger of being lost. Dairies are common in NSW and the property no longer functions as a dairy.	It is noted that the rarity criteria for a local listing relates to the local area only and other sites across NSW are not relevant. The assertion that there are hundreds of small weatherboard houses in the LGA is fundamentally flawed as Miala is an early dairying complex and homestead associated with the dairy industry in the West Dapto area. The site is one of an increasingly small number of surviving 19 th century dairy complexes in the area. Whilst the site has undergone modifications, including additions and alterations to the house and dairy building, It remains readily identifiable as a late Victorian dairy farmhouse in a farmland setting. As the West Dapto Urban Release Area and the Calderwood Release Area is developed, intact dairy complexes are becoming increasingly rare.
G – Representative An item is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of NSWs (or the local area's): cultural or natural places; or cultural or natural environments.	The homestead is considered to be of a typical of a modified and extended late Victorian architectural design; however, it is not considered to be complete or intact to be considered to be a good representative example. As such, the homestead is not considered to meet the State or local heritage listing under this criterion.	Miala is highly modified and is not a fine example of its type. It does not represent well the characteristics that make up a significant variation of a type nor is it is outstanding because of its setting, condition or size.	The site meets this criteria at a local level. The Miala complex provides a good representative example of an early dairy complex dating from the late Victorian period. Although the homestead and dairy have been modified following the cessation of dairying operations, the house remains readily recongnisable as an early farmhouse through the construction of the western extensions, the main façade and verandah as well as significant internal elements remain intact and readily identifiable as discussed in this Report. The intact facades are representative of a typical late Victorian period farm house with intact (though modified) surviving dairy, and associated infrastructure. Therefore the site meets this criteria at a local level



6.2 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The following Statement of Significance has been prepared based on the Assessment of Heritage Significance:

Miala house and surviving dairy, along with the associated infrastructure including cattle ramp, drinking troughs and Silo provide evidence of a small scale, family run dairy complex established from the late Victorian period. The house, whilst modified, remains readily recognisable as a late Victorian farmhouse, whilst the dairy and associated infrastructure retain evidence of this significant historic occupation, which was a key industry at the core of the Illawarra's economy during the second half of the 19th, and much of the 20th century.

The property is associated with one of the first five land grants in the Illawarra, being part of "Macquarie Gift", which was granted to George Johnson of Rum Rebellion fame. The property remained in the ownership of the Johnston and Weston families, through descendants of George Johnston up until 1895. The house was most likely built during the 1880s, during the ownership of either Edward Henry Weston (pre-1884) or Frederick Weston Perry (1884 onward), though an earlier date of construction cannot be ruled out. Later owners of the property included Alderman James Stevenson who, whilst living on the property, played a central role in a wide range of community affairs as well as an important role in the progression of the Illawarra dairy industry through his roles with the Albion Park Dairy Factory, the Royal Agricultural and Horticultural Society as well as many other local community organisations and institutions.

The remote agricultural setting of the Miala complex, and its established gardens, including two large established Figs, and backdrop of the Illawarra Escarpment are aesthetically significant. The 500m long driveway including ford crossing provides a dramatic arrival to the complex with the soaring escarpment slopes and cliffs to the north and west of the site adding to the aesthetic significance of the site.

The site is likely to retain archaeological evidence relating to the historic development of the homestead complex and to earlier outbuildings and farm structures. Given the length of tenure from the earliest (post colonisation) settlement in the Illawarra, and the evidence in the historic records for tenant farms on the estate from early in its history, the presence of earlier farm buildings that may reveal important historic evidence of tenant-based farming activities cannot be ruled out. Archaeological research has the potential to reveal evidence that may assist with dating and adding to the chronology of development on the site and to close gaps in the available historic record.

The Miala complex is representative of a family run dairy farm, established from the late Victorian period with building and structures that provide evidence of this significant economic activity and occupation.

Surviving dairy complexes are growing increasingly rare in the Illawarra and West Dapto precinct, with few sites providing intact dairy complexes dating from the 1880's surviving throughout the area, with house, dairy and associated facilities and structures intact (albeit modified).



6.3 CURTILAGE ASSESSMENT AND DISCUSSION

The significant elements within the Miala Complex, include the house, the dairy and associated concrete mustering areas, water troughs and cattle ramp, the silo, as well as the site of the historic barn or other outbuildings. The two large Figs and other established plantings, gardens and picket fenced house enclosure and the direct physical connections between the house and the adjacent creek line which snakes around the western and southern side of the complex also contribute to the significance of the site, and the setting of the complex within the landform.

Given this, a curtilage appropriate for the future management of the complex is proposed below in Figure 23:



Figure 23: Proposed curtilage boundary.

Whilst the 500m long driveway and ford crossing contribute to the significance of the property, the listing of these elements as part of the curtilage is not considered an appropriate response in a residential release area. The vehicle entry however as a marker of the historic access to the property should be considered in future planning and maintained as a frontage to future development if possible.



6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

The following recommendations are made based on the strength of the assessment provided within this report:

- A draft Planning Proposal should be prepared and reported to the Wollongong Local Planning Panel and then Council seeking to add the "Miala House and dairy complex" to the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 2009 as a local heritage item. If endorsed, and following a Gateway determination the draft Planning Proposal would be exhibited.
- 2. The proposed curtilage map provided at Figure 23 should be adopted and used as the basis for updating the Wollongong Local Environment Plan 2009 Heritage Map.
- 3. The Statement of Significance provided within this report should be adopted and used to inform decision making related to the future conservation of the complex.
- 4. The draft Neighbourhood Plan should be amended to provide for the retention and conservation of the significant fabric and features identified within this report. This redesign should include the realignment of the proposed collector road, and stormwater detention.
- 5. Consultation with the property owner/developer should be commenced to explore the potential opportunities for adaptive re-use of the site as a central focal point for the new residential community and to ensure that the site provides a commercially viable outcome. Consideration could be given to providing for additional options and/or flexibility in the use of the property (eg. Potential function venue, café, small urban farm, Bed & Breakfast or similar). Consideration could be given to additional permissible uses as part of the Planning Proposal for Heritage Listing.
- 6. Consideration should be given within the residential subdivision to retain and/or interpret elements of the historic access to the property, including the driveway alignment, entry gates on Marshall Mount Road, and particularly, the location of the Ford across the creek.
- 7. The outcomes of the yet to be finalised Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment Report should be considered to explore opportunities for any Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Values attached to the site to be incorporated and/or acknowledged within the proposed heritage listing. Consultation with the Aboriginal Community to this end as part of any future exhibition should be undertaken and carefully considered.
- Any future development within the proposed curtilage boundary must consider the potential archaeological significance of the site. An excavation permit will be required under the NSW Heritage Act 1977 and archaeological oversight provided.
- 9. The proposed future development should explore opportunities to provide for the interpretation of the Aboriginal and Historic Heritage values of the site, including the significance of the site as part of "Macquarie Gift", one of the first five land grants in the Illawarra.



7.0 CONCLUSIONS

The "Miala House" complex, including the house, dairy buildings and associated infrastructure, silo, gardens and established Figs provide a historically significant complex of local significance. The retention of the significant features of the site, within a suitable curtilage provides an opportunity for the retention of evidence of the principal historic occupation in the Marshall Mount area, and of the use of the area prior to the proposed residential subdivision.

The location of the site on raised land, near the elbow of a natural creek-line, and adjacent to a (slightly relocated) proposed collector road, provides an opportunity to retain the house, and its significant outbuildings, and landscape features, as a centrepiece of the proposed residential subdivision.

The recommendations of this report should be adopted and implemented in the progression of considerations to the finalisation and adoption of the draft Neighbourhood Plan.



9.0 REFERENCES

AECOM (2021) Duck Creek/Marshall Vale Neighbourhood Plan Heritage Review. Prepared for Urbanco.

Eco Logical Australia (2021) "Peer Review" 410 Marshall Mount Road Heritage Assessment. Prepared for Urbanco.

HLA-Envirosciences (2006) *Non-indigenous Heritage Study, West Dapto – Volume 1*. Prepared for Wollongong City Council (as part of the West Dapto Local Environmental Study).

Hynd, Tamara (2003-2004) *Historic and Archaeological Map, Shellharbour City 1830-1930*. Prepared for the Tongarra Heritage Society Inc.

https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/8172080/historic-and-archaeological-map-shellharbour-city-council

Kass, Terry (2010) Thematic History of the City of Wollongong, Prepared for Wollongong City Council.

NOTE – Appendix 1 of this report provides an amalgamation of various historic records and documents gathered for the preparation of this report. Many of these articles are from newspapers and were accessed via TROVE. These historic articles and extracts are presented in chronological order with identified sources and can be accessed within this appendix. These references form the basis of much of the History section of this report and have allowed for a significant expansion of the evidence provided within the previous assessment reports. These individual articles are not individually referenced within the reference list above.



APPENDIX 1: Chronological compilation of historic documents and source material



The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954) / Tue 11 Jan 1876 / Page 9 / Advertising





8		LOT 6.—Containing 80 acres, all cleared, adjoining lot 4, occupied by Mr. Howse, containing splendid	11
	- ⁰	meadow paddock, extensive orchard in full bearing, good premises, all enclosed. A beautiful farm.	11 14 14 12 12
	n 🔾	LOT 6Containing 94 acres, occupied by Mr. J.	
		Reid-(this lot joins the famous Marshal Mount	1944 1 204
	5]	Estate, of the late Henry Osborne, Esq.)-sub- divided into paddocks, with suitable premises. A	1 19 10
	\mathbb{R}	very nice block.	36425
	rfecuy	LOT 7.—Containing 126 acres, occupied by Mr. Rafferty (adjoining lot 2), consisting of rich meadow and fine	120613
		forest, on the Macquarie River, with suitable	2.0 111
	# C	premiece also. A perfect garden.	3-5112
,		LOT 8.—Containing 140 acres, occupied by Mr. Fraser (adjoining lot 7), a splendid farm, being all river	57438
		fiats and forest bush nidges, with planty of shelter,	1.2.2.11
	15	LOT 9.—Containing 255 acres, occupied by Mr. Barker	12.818
		(adjoining lot 8), and consisting of nice river flats,	1. 6. 1. 2.
		fine grassed, rich forest land, all subdivided into	1.0731740
		paddocks-excellent premises. A highly productive farm.	E.1. 1921
	1.12	LOT 10 Containing 70 scres of fine open forest (ad-	ST \$ 13
h	T	joining lot 2). A splendid paddock for dry stock. LOT 11Containing 100 acres, fine timbered, open	15 0 (\$11)
	SEET.	forest (adjoining lot 4), an indispensable peddock	10.0000
	IOLI	for surplus stock.	1.076-021
	134 foot	LOT 12.—Containing 426 acres, known as Middle Paddock, with a frontage to the Macquarie River.	21491
ıe	o large	nearly all open bush, brush ridges, box ferest, all	12034010
	roving	enclosed. A heavy stock carrier in the winter. Total, 1751 acres (more or loss).	5 (18:15)
on	reanity	Title unquestionable.	1.18
JII	ald not	Liberal Terms-25 per cent. cash deposit ; balance by	2012010
		equal instalments, bearing 7 per cent. interest per annum.	8239628
	C	Luncheon at 12 o'clock, at Steam Packet Hotel.	11.0 21.03
rally	1. 224	The Auctioneer, in the small compass of an advertise-	75,000
any	SEC-	ment, cannot adequately describe the intrinsic value of the	1.9 N973
	SUB-	shove property. The character of its soil is unsurpassed, consisting as it principally does of alluvial soil to any	1083535
	PARK RBET.	depth, its contiguous position to the celebrated properties of	873465
	1	the late Henry Osborne, Esq., E. H. Weston, Bag., and	100
		Terry's estate (so recently sold at \$30 os. per acre), its close proximity to the main road to Wollongong and Kiama,	0.1 8 3 9
ncent	0 re-	the advantages of shipping, the almost certainty of the	12.2.4 (3)
	JABY,	illeware Railway passing through this property, must increase its value immensely , its highly	128.010
	rant,	productive character, the advantages of the purest water in	1226-10
1.1			

Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW : 1856 - 1950) / Fri 21 Jan 1876 / Page 2 / Telegraphic Intelligence.

	at 🔍 m the exis.	Kiama, Thursday evening.	Moved by Rov. G. Charter, seconded by Mr. D. M'Donald, and carried unanimously-" That	76.
ng to	t Shen looked lin, and the aim of provide the second second in C is falling in C our in- ound favor 1 D ilway from g through banks of the Eu- ast of the Porsian hough intended for d merchandlice, was railway, and it was emergency arising,	9 235 W. Swan 1600 10 70 T. Armstrong 270 11 100 John Hayes 282	 Mearis, W. G. Robertson and A. Campbell be the Anditors for the year." On the motion of Mearn, G. Herdett and D. McDonald, the remaneration to be granted to each of the Medical Officers during the year was fixed at the same figure as last year, viz., £30 each. Mr. T. Dakin moved—" That the Rov. G. Charter be the Society for the current year," and in doing so he spoke in commending terms of the efficient manner in which the Rov. Mr. Char- ter always discharged the duties of Scorebary. Mr. J. W. Hosking seconded the notion, which was then earried unminuously. Rev. G. Charter acknowledged his re-election to effice, and thanked the subscribers for the confi- dence so manifested in him. He said he about 	Presi Ministe He luss country trial of Preside rovision The The Os Mr. Glasgo' the cles for the

.

. .



9	Q			Conjoined Letters.		Γ Δ	нс
-	Q	34.	HC	Edward Magick, Maltagunna, Bourke	49859	FSL	нс
		P	C	F. W. Perry, Marshall Mount, Illawarr	a 50027	ŲĮ	
	\otimes	ĐC		George Cafe, Carwell, Gilgandra	49922	A1	JG HC
	C	Ħ	HC	Joshua Hughes, Glen Innes	49989	G.C	нс
	<u> </u>	Ţ]	HC	H. G. Marsh, Armidale	49877	D.R.	····· C
	5			James Cannons, Woodlands, Inverell	49890	<u><u>u</u></u> }	
^			HC	P. B. Moore, Boyong, Hay Richard Marum, Deniliquin	80000 49642	₽÷}	нс
		,				പി	

Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW : 1856 - 1950) / Thu 27 May 1886 / Page 3 / Advertising





at Paris is	MARSHALL MOUNT ESTATE.	North Clifton to the Macquaris River a
g 🛨 its to	1 Succession Sec.	
	A SUCCESSFUL CALE,	
be crited	The sale of the shore estate took store at	
a 🔾 Loop,	Real's Hotal Danta on Saturdan last	
n miner		
	and Wrouch of Sydney, who sated in east	
a No the	innetion with Mosers D. T. Dunsels and	
h K irtha.	Lu. of Kiama. The attendance was land	
	and despite the fast that the weather was	
	far from being provitions shout 900	HOW WEALTH IS DISTRIBUTED.
	noteons were present chiefly from Man	
and a second as	shall Mount, Albian Park Kisma and	Late Loudwille Fernarks ave from it.
	Jamberon. An ampla luncheon was neo-	The Is Italifica, an English such a stri
	vided, and after it had been partaken of	CHILD DOLD OUL COMMITTE PRIMATIANT AND AND
and and	Mr. Wrench ascended the rostenm and	YOU INAKE OUT & BCREWING, Sharing Last 123
	commenced operations by declaring the	Income of a great compunate is did not be
	conditions of sale, and then expeticiting	The Will Since Lien incoment aviend 1.
	upon the great agricultural value of the	Intra Visiting Hilly Die Difficient medas it
	hand comprised in the estate anhunited	Denda :- (1) Livit and interest former with
	also apon its provinity to Dante and the	for the use of property) - 195 22.2 Ber
	advantages of such a situation in view of	. LUCA, ADG WATER
pascasod under	the extensive harbor acheme it is proposed	Fon lered ; (3). Profits of archiver at an
1.00	to apply to the Illawatra Lake and the	EDECHIAGION, ICENE IS I DIVIDANT make in
von v. North	importance that must puccessfully attach	the owners of land and first said to
	therewith. After the first block was sub-	leave to occupy and use it. The same
were-Austral-	jected to the bid, it was very clear that the	of this payment is fixed, as we become the
and innings, 5	percentage of determined huvers amongst	Chickly by competition. The faist second of the
England-first	the assemblage was large, and the hidding	o' reut paid in a civilized county being the
1000	was consequently spirited. As a result, we	with the prosperity of the country To, Min's 1
as consecrated	are enabled to report that the entire sub	200 years ago this nation was paring to EEE 1
		Infilions storing; to the avenue of helenged in
	prices. Seeing that this estate was	now we are paying sixty millions, But 193
midale, Mait-	large one, comprising some 3.300 acres o	industry becomes more various and emposit 1.
Wilcaunia,	the best agricultural lands in the district.	bicisini, income from other sources interest 53
ney and Saud-	and further that it had been occupied by ;	inato rapidly inan rent ; and tent formal
	numerous and prosperous tenantry for very	smallar proportion of the whole, The 3 3
1.00	many years, considerabio importance both	200 Yours ago, ront stood for a fund of 1 1
ernsdition to	La Anna de Barran Anna de Barran de Ba	the national inc min; now it stands is the
	1 14	Less Links a twentleth. The majerir d
		The man with no connirg lite of and
	the sheet of the second s	Watch are paid to them forstight, and
	ship in the land that afforded them the	OF AL SHOFLOF INLEPVALE by their empired
	livelihood, and while it might have cause	a rue corat amount of amployment set of a
		sind wages paid varies according is the set
by the only of		Lutount of capital secking investment, r
ow whether the		a according to the opportunities which in the opportunities which is not opportunities which in the opportunities which is not opportunities which in the opportunities which is not opportunities which in the opportunities which is not op
	 a gent a a gent a b gent a c gent a <lic a<="" gent="" li=""> c gent a c gent a<!--</td--><td>ALIGNIAL MOUNT ESTATE. A SUCCESSFUL SALE. A SUCCESSFUL SALE. The asle of the above estate took place at the actioneous were Meers. Kielewrdson and Wronch, of Sydney, who seted in con- junction with Mossra. D. L. Dymock and the actioneous were Meers. Kielewrdson and Wronch, of Sydney, who seted in con- junction with Mossra. D. L. Dymock and the actioneous were present, chiefly from Mar- shall Mount, Albion Park, Kiama, and Jamberon, An ample luncheon was pro- vided, and sfore it had been partaken of Mr. Wrench assended the restrum and conditions of sale, and then expain inc- mode and after it had been partaken of Mr. Wrench assended the restrum and conditions of sale, and then expain inc- the stream of a stream and and a oupen its proximity to Dapts, and the advantages of auch a situation in view we remented operations by declaring the the extensive harbor scheme it is proposed to apply to the Iliawarra Lake, and the importance that must meessarily attack therewith. After the first block was sub- perentage of determined buyers amonge the assemblage was large, and the didding was consequently spirited. As a result was are enabled to report that the entire sub- division was disposed of at satisfactor prices. Seeing that this estate was ings one, compresing some 3,300 acress the best agricultural lands in the district and forther that it had been compiled by the stranding of the best agricultural lands in the district and for the transit of 22 farms to obtain even abit in the land that afforded an opportunit to be transit of 22 farms to obtain even ap ang of regres to some at seeing on the by the and of</td></lic>	ALIGNIAL MOUNT ESTATE. A SUCCESSFUL SALE. A SUCCESSFUL SALE. The asle of the above estate took place at the actioneous were Meers. Kielewrdson and Wronch, of Sydney, who seted in con- junction with Mossra. D. L. Dymock and the actioneous were Meers. Kielewrdson and Wronch, of Sydney, who seted in con- junction with Mossra. D. L. Dymock and the actioneous were present, chiefly from Mar- shall Mount, Albion Park, Kiama, and Jamberon, An ample luncheon was pro- vided, and sfore it had been partaken of Mr. Wrench assended the restrum and conditions of sale, and then expain inc- mode and after it had been partaken of Mr. Wrench assended the restrum and conditions of sale, and then expain inc- the stream of a stream and and a oupen its proximity to Dapts, and the advantages of auch a situation in view we remented operations by declaring the the extensive harbor scheme it is proposed to apply to the Iliawarra Lake, and the importance that must meessarily attack therewith. After the first block was sub- perentage of determined buyers amonge the assemblage was large, and the didding was consequently spirited. As a result was are enabled to report that the entire sub- division was disposed of at satisfactor prices. Seeing that this estate was ings one, compresing some 3,300 acress the best agricultural lands in the district and forther that it had been compiled by the stranding of the best agricultural lands in the district and for the transit of 22 farms to obtain even abit in the land that afforded an opportunit to be transit of 22 farms to obtain even ap ang of regres to some at seeing on the by the and of

Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW : 1856 - 1950) / Tue 1 Jul 1890 / Page 2 / MARSHALL MOUNT ESTATE.

Continued over...



白油町もち 戸戸ちの ちち のた 四な 四の のう

0	el e	district broken up and parcelled out to a score of purchasers, the decimation of the tenure cannot bear other than h gbly be e- ficial results to the district at large. Com- mercially, of connex, the results of she scale of interest and profit. The rate of u- of interest we decimation of the afford a good criterion of the landed values in the locality and district generally. The hear of the landed values afford a good criterion of the landed values in the locality and district generally.	and a start of the second s
lace	wit in	this rapidly rose to £20 10s per acro, and fell to the ned of Mr. Thomas Armstr mg,	NOTHING THE REAL
.st.	in C in-	Dymoek. A full ist of purchasers is here appended : Lrts' Accass Price Purchaser between the second, the rate of the second the se	United (posido
in	as atopped,	ae rd peh £ s 40 1 360 252 15 10 0 2 146 0 5 20 10 0 R. M. Dymock 3 91 2 32 16 10 0 John O'Doud 4 130 0 36 14 5 0 Wm. H. Sharpen of the there is a the the set of the the set of the se	
k	y manged. douse for, too the train	0 120 3 41 10 5 0 Joint Foarson 6 125 3 41 10 15 0 Harry Timbs 7 97 2 0 17 0 0 Jas. Rogan 2 964 0 21 8 10 0 West Marry Contractor has to make a materia by the	
	ten place in the Dutch ud for Java,	9 283 0 0 8 10 0 Wm. Moran 10 113 0 0 4 15 0 Wm. Moran 11 210 130 8 12 6 T. O'Noll, sen.	
er	The Prinz of that she troops on	12 121 14 10 15 0 T. O'Neil, MON. efficiency of their labor. If their is the second	
)0	ester occur- Prinz Fred- 1 a million	16 144 3 8 8 0 Jav. Dawes makes their l-bor less valuabletment 17 155 2 10 10 0 G. Timbs long run to lower their wars.	0
L	f which was put in at these who	19 136 2 25 13 0 John Smith Jabora's efficiency in his work barb 20 95 1 30 9 0 M. Been habits and standard of living. If not	
and	p. Court, on	22 114 2 37 5 10 0 F. W. Perry comforts, they will put themeland	
; pro	R. Keevers	14s 6d. the'r invlependence and their part of	
en	ont of 230 10s, which appenled Jbion Park , as it was piscs. The was upheld. mall Dobts , for 27 5.	The sale is the largest in maount sold by public nucleion since the advent of the first sottler, and is ample pro f to vendors that the public are the judges of values, and that a property once determined upon to solt shou'd be left to unrestrained competition. The sale is important in many aspects; it is the break in the first large estate hrlt. It will add value and enterprise by being are always some laborers was used	

Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW: 1856 - 1950) / Sat 28 Apr 1894 / Page 3 / Advertising





0	DO LO LDO	April 26th.	10	
3	Tery		re	
	T STEEL	SALE OF MARSHALL MOUNT	du	
	itman was		lat	
	ri 🔾 stora	FARMS.	W	
	y 8503			
14	rendhoze	On Wednesday afternoon last a fair	ex	
it	ar X hile	number of persons attended the sale of two	101	
ale	ouning on.	farms at Marsha'l Mount, advertised to	til	
are	Bidly			
		Frank Bayan. The farms are locally known	pr th	
ed		as Mr. John Smith's (at present in the	th	
icu	manual of	occupation of Mr. J. Chir) and Messis.	36	
	in in man	Tollife Drop menostin lu The minin	to to	
by	BI AD	Jolliffe Bros, respectively. The majority	40	
J	oh plainly	of the people att nding the sale consisted	- pq	
	ther occu-	of representative landholders. Mr. T. F.	(7)	
	intruder.	Armstrong wielded the hammer and mate	in	
	joyed the	a lengthy speech in enlogy of the prope ties.	67	
	ESUX CON-	The one late'y occupied by Mr. J. Smith,	1	
ho	" in which	consisting of 136 scres, was the first offered.		
	cceeded in	The bidding commenced at £10 and then	p	
ssrs.	coontron In	£11 10s, £11 15s, and £12 was bid, when	pe	
	16 14	the lot was withdrawn. The other farm,	80	
ority	ment Mrs.	in the occupation of Mr. J. Chie, was then		
	ppropriate	put up It co sists of 135 Pores, and #-8	2.	
	id Masters	also withdrawn, £12 being the highest bid.	10	
	rs, created	This considered more than probable that	5	
T. F,	ont by the	It is considered more than probable that	in in	
1. 1,	aumber of	the two farms will is disposed of privately	b	
nd	Baxter and	at the price required to liquida'o the lis-		
	veral plano	bilities of the bank. The terms are liberal,		
	Toras piano	the dr p sit being 10 per cent., with 10 per	8	
rope	10 g l	cont. in 3 months, and the balance in Jo	10	
		half-vearly paymen s at 6 per cent. 100	be be	
	KESSELL	should be a good investment for anyone	1	
-		who wan's to recure a couple of the riches		
	ы г.	and best watered farms in Illawarra.	1	
			10	
	P. 10 J		1.0	

Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW : 1856 - 1950) / Tue 30 Apr 1895 / Page 2 / SALE OF MARSHALL MOUNT FARMS.

Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW: 1856 - 1950) / Thu 24 Oct 1895 / Page 2 / THE SCRAP ALBUM.



"Dreams." Mr. R. T come alleged huma delighted everyone, als "Her bright smile has H. Leake bewailed in all had left him. His programme were "Go and " My sweetheart w



New South Wales Government Gazette (Sydney, NSW : 1832 - 1900) / Fri 1 Nov 1895 [Issue No.727] / Page 7078 / IN BANKRUPTCY. of the E., S., and A. Bank.-Dated at Sydney, this 28th day of October, A.D. 1895. Official Assignee-WILLIAM 8 2454 罴 ABTHUR HENRY, Registrar in Bankruptcy. Se. 6d. € Q C D In the Supreme Court of N 2450 IN BA Re John Gibson, of Home [Notice under Section 11 of the Bankruptey Act, 1887.] th In the Supreme Court of New South Wales. VOTICE is hereby given th the above matter will be h land, before the District Re-day of November, 1895, at 1 of business will permit. T his proof must be lodged v Chancery-square, Sydney, November, 1895. (10,238) IN BANKEUPICY. Re Frederick Weston Perry, of Marshall Mount, near Campbelltown. rshall NOTIOE is hereby given that a Sequestration Order has this day been made against the abovenamed bankrupt, on the petition of the Bank of New South Wales.—Dated at Sydney, this 25th day of October, A.D. 1895. . 1896. ABTHUR HENRY, Registrar in Bankruptcy. 3s. 6d. Official Assignee-WILLIAM 2457 2458 named Wales.

Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW: 1856 - 1950) / Thu 12 Dec 1895 / Page 2 / BANKRUPTCY COURT.

8			
	h 🗨 be-	BANKRUPTCY COURT.	SYDNEY
	A 10	MONDAY, DEC. 9.	(FROM OUR CO
	I Q pyed	(Bufore Mr. W. H. H. Becks, P.M.,	
	o argh	District Registrar.)	PARLIA
a	n 🗙 lired	In the estate of Frederick Weston Perry,	In a wask or so Par
t	Romo coal	farmer, Marshall Mount,	rogued and the Char street will be closed
	m His	Bankrupt deposed that he had filed a statement of his affuirs, and did not desire	least. There is no dou'
	C WBB	to amend it; he had never been bankrupt	and the Council have
	l ttor,	hofore, nor made an assignment for the	mous amount of work
r the	b ttar,	bonefit of his creditors ; had kept no books	To within a few de
	scout Gas	of account; the cause of his bankruptcy	highly probable that t tion would result in 1
10	hard here	was pressure by the Bank of New South Wales for an amount alleged to be owing	ession would close
	in Sydney)	in connection with a bond he hal signed	But conference mag
	Australian	under the impression that he was only	situation. Land and
	accipt, but	liable for a certain period, which had ex-	estiled and the refor lowed as a natural
		In reply to Mr. Cox, who appeared for	slight feat of legislatic
	nd children	the official assigned and Bink of New	lution in taxation in
	7here does	South Wales, bankrupt further deposed :	Both Houses of Parlia
	g man or	I understood that I signed the bond until	to the mandate of th
	ive remu-	the bank got John Smith's deeds into their	Reid has had his p accepted, and placed in
	38.	possession, when my liability was to cease ; it was not for any overdraft ; I was sur-	Minia ora will during
	is its own	prised when the bank sent me a novice to	opportunity of furth
only	densery at	pay, and replied to the off of that I did not	policy. No doubt afte
ad	lown owing	owe them any money ; I naw Mr. Adams,	to the great question though Mr. Reid has
	which it is	the manager of the Wol ongong branch,	thusiast for Australian
	ough some	and told him that I had signed the bond under the impression that I was only liable	nised the necessity of
	 ilk, part of opurate for 	until the bank obtained the "eeds, which	more close'y together.
	Many per-	it then held ; Mr. Adams said I was still	the world have echoed
	a with Mr.	liable under the terms of the bond; I then	and within our ow question has become
	culties that	told him that I could not pay it, as I had	question in a become







Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW: 1856 - 1950) / Sat 11 Jan 1896 / Page 2 / Advertising



Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW : 1856 - 1950) / Sat 25 Jan 1896 / Page 2 / Advertising







Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW : 1856 - 1950) / Fri 22 Apr 1910 / Page 7 / BREVITIES.



/ South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954) / Fri 7 Oct 1910 / Page 8 / WEEK BY WEEK





South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954) / Fri 20 Sep 1918 / Page 10 / Adver





South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954) / Fri 27 Feb 1920 / Page 5



-

THE SOUTH COAST TIMES.

ALBION PARK

As average of two block days per week are at present being experienced at the local milk receiving depot, but during the past fortnight there has been a noticeable decrease in the quantity of milk coming forward. The want of a good downpour of rain is being freely commented upon by farmers, most of whom anticipate a rather trying time for the approaching if a change does not shortly winter occur. Already there is a slight fall in the prices paid for dairy cattle, and it is feared that by the end of March the decrease will be much more pronounced

Sir Ross Smith's arcoplane on Monday was plainly visible from Albian Park A story is going the rounds that a farmer out Marshall Mount way, upon bearing the engine of the aeroplane working, but not noticing the machine overhead, remarked to his son that the chaffentter in the barn was running smoothly.

Persons on the lookout for a snug little dairy farm should not miss the auction sale of four farms on the Weston Estate, to be disposed of by O'Gorman and Burns, anetioneers, toemorrow (Saturday), at the Town Hall, Albion Park, at 2 o'clock. There have been hundreds of inquiries in regard to the properties, and a big attendance is expected.

A buyer representing the Military

Wollongong Show

The hon, secretary writes: V gong Show will take place on 4th 5th and 6th next, and as t ciety has progressed wonderful the three years it has possessed ground, its 1920 fixture promises a record. It will be the last of the shows, and every show so far hbeen most successful, on account wonderful season the South Coatriet has experienced.

Wollongong Agricultural Asso is the largest society south of \$ having over 425 members, and c £572 in prize-money, Owing to ing in the centre of the dairyin mining industries, its ring, both cattle and horses, stands equal any country show in the Stat ring has been extensively altere year for trotting and jumping. will be exhibited on the second this year, and the innovation p to be a success. On the Saturday from the ring programme, the be Highland dancing and piping vear over 8000 people were presthe show, and given fine weathe record should be easily brokens ace coming in very freely.

W. WARD, BUILDER AND CONTRACT

All kinds of Joinery work to



South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW: 1900 - 1954) / Fri 5 Mar 1920 / Page 19

THE SOUTH CONS 19: for the praiseworthy manner in wh BION PARK he had performed the multifarious ties in connection with the show. district is beginning to pres-rowned appearance, while the of the ground is very hard. here inches of rain would say C. O'Keefe, returning officer, announ the result of the ballot for the r 1920-21 committee as follows: Num nen, be welcome of ballot papers printed 457, issued -returned 356, informal 5. C. Johns the most successful hand sales 350, J. Duwes 347, H. R. Hobart : W. Dunster 340, J. C. Graham 338, Albion Park was conducted by O'Gorman and Burns, auc-m Saturday last, in the Wes-W. Fulliver 540, 57. C. Graham 338, Gower 337, G. Langley 334, A. H. W. ton 331, T. A. Bateman 328, W. Norris 325, A. Wright 325, W. Chaj 324, J. W. Musgrave 322, A. T. F 321, C. B. Dawes 319, H. G. Fraser P. Broker 313, J. Tord, and Y. Y. [?] The attendance of buyer Albion Park Town Hall, were representatives from ast and all portions of the Il-district. Sales were: Farm, 130 P. Hurley 313, J. Timbs 311, D. Dun 279, W. J. Healey 250, J. R. Ander apied by Robert Dawes, sold 249 (elected). The unsuccessful ca-dates were: J. T Faulks 233, F. Ma Charlesworth, of Dorrigo, at tere. Farm, 140 acres, occupied furdie, purchased by Johnson (bion Park, at £20 per acre. L 223, M. Pearson 206. After the u votes of thanks the meeting was journed for a month to allow for acres, occupied by Adam Den-£16 preparation of a finance statement. purchased by him for n [?] Farm, 103 acres, occupied by ondon, purchased by H. Gilroy er acre, Applications are com-

nd daily for properties in this

last milds Mr. 4

PINKETTES

CORRECT CONSTIPATION.



Mr.

594



/ Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW : 1856 - 1950) / Fri 10 Mar 1922 / Page 4 / CENTRAL ILLAWARRA



Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW: 1856 - 1950) / Fri 7 Nov 1924 / Page 1 / REMINISCENCES OF ILLAWARRA.



THE WESTON AND JOHNSTONE ESTATES.

When we tooch the history of the Johnston and Weston Estates we go very far back, list the history of Ihawarra, and also the history of Naw South Wales. To commonse the history of these wonderful Grown grants, known as Johnston's Mesdows and Weston's Meadows, we must hark back to a period at and before the hirtory of Hawarra. Alond January, 1910, Governor Ma-quarke came to New South Wales to relieve Governor Migh. One Major Johnston, with Mr. McArthur, was making history in Naw South Wales at this date. Major Johnstone had two doughters living in Sydney at the time, and when the Bligh treuble was over the them Governor, Lachhan Masquarie, by the consent of the King, granted to the Miss Johnston sil that area of land at Marshall Mount and Alhian Park, known in late years as Johnston and Weston Mendows, but at the time and, for many years after, as Governoe's Macquarie's Grant.

area of land at Marshall Mount and Alhica Park, known in hat years as Johnston and Weston Moadows, but at the time and, for many years after, as Governor's Macquarie's Grant. At the time there was also living at Horsley, near Prapect, one Captain Weston. He also held a grant of land from the King, through Governor Lachlan Macquarie. Later Captain Weston married one of the Johnston sites. The grant at Albies Park and Marshall Mount, was divided and afterwards became known as Weston's Moadows and Johnston's Maadown. Both of the Macdows coulan very rick land, and, an the grants were funced into farms of considerable size, there were many assessminal tenant furmers on the Estatic. Captain Weston did not live permanently on the Distate. He had a nice cottage erosted and he paid many visits to the property, and during the shooting eeason quite a number of friends joined him at the Maddows. Large drafting slock yards were erocid and an overseer's cottage was also built. Mr. R. P. Buil was the overseer during Captain Weston 'uspected in the district. It is many years since Captain Weston found he at the Johnston Mandown, and most of the second generation have passed 'rapected in the district. It is many years since Captain Weston found ha bride at the Johnston Mandown, and most of the second generation have passed 'uspected in the district. It is many years since Captain Weston found his bride at the Johnston Mandown, and most of the second generation have passed 'uspected in the district. It is not be too be a the various farms for long periods, and in many cance even leases did not exist. The late H. M. Weston was a far at the tenant farms for long periods, and in many cance even leases did not exist.

1878.7. To day the youngent we were a proved themselves to be through the range of yoars the Weston people have proved themselves to be wise and considerate insidered. The tenants have been on the various farms for long periods, and in many cases even leases did not exist. The late 18. H. Weston was a tall, thin man and a splendid herseman. His mether lived to be a great any, being ever 90 years. Her sixter, Mission are at up into farms and oal the big prices. One of the early overscers of the Johnston Bettide was Mr. Raftery, father of Mr. P. Baftery, who is still living, aged about 85 years. There was a school on the Johnstone Bettide was more the great many children came to the arbod-this was averly diver edity years ago. This school was situated on a portion of the Odeshout and the prices. The teacher was an old greateman mand Peopall. A great many children came to the arbod-this was averly diver edity years ago. This school was situated on a portion of the Odeshout People Hamilton Hume same into Illowarta to report to Governor Macquarie on the Jahand to be made Crower Grants. It is about one hundred years since Hamilton Hume and the sarrevors to map out a description of the prains. The motor and the tale, hange has taken place. The whistle of the engines as the trains that not be mouthin. The motor and to follows fastor, "and the ead of the change is not yet with us.

to the Cheir in the rela-

REVIEW.

approach of the Ch

a story of dog life or that gives it al ch. The interest t

Bables," by Ch



South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954) / Fri 3 Sep 1926 / Page 9 / MARSHALL MOUNT. • 洸 MARSHALL MOUNT. Ð Mr. James Ellison, who died in Wollongong Hospital, on Wednesday died in lay,^ Q of last week, was a native of this lo-cality, where he was born 56 years ago. He was an old employee of the .6- « Weston Estate. Mr. H. Ellison, of Dapto, is a brother, and a sister re-nors in Wollongong. The funeral took place at St. Luke's cemetery, prownsville, Rev. G. P. Birk, of-ficiating ;: . 5 ., e-, P ficiating. An Orange service was conducted jy f by Rev. R. H. Doust, in the Method-? f ist Church on Sunday, there being a good attendance of members of the i L.O.L. Just as the dayman was getting in ome repair work on the roads he (J; has been removed to another ward of Central Illawarra, when there is plenty to engage his attention locall-t ly for some time to come. thjj S

South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954) / Fri 2 Mar 1928



MARSHALL MOUNT Marshall Mount is to have a public tennis court as a meeting held at the public school decided to initiate the SATURDAY, 3rd project ind on Tuesday evening At 2.30 at sub committee laid out a site in Ald. J. Stevenson's field not far from the Nita Naldi in public school and by means of working bees the formation of the court will be carried out. It has been deci-"THE MASKE Charles Chaplin in ded to, at an early date, conduct an "The Adventu entertainment towards the cost of materials for the court, this to take the form of a social evening and euchre party at which a programme of elo-cutionary and other items will included A sub-committee of ladies has this matter in hand and a definite MAJORA Paint square feet to sold for 22/9 cash, Send to Herb. Buck date will be announced in the next card. day or two. A cricket pitch in connection with the school is also projected. Mr. and Mrs. A. Greig are leaving I ICENSED Electr Mr. and and Radio eng liams and Son, Wol this locality. At Marshall Mount Methodist



HI



Government Gazette of the State of New South Wales (Sydney, NSW : 1901 - 2001) / Fri 26 May 1933 [Issue No.79] / Page 1785 / REGISTRATION OF STOCK BRANDS ACT, 1921.

8	10105		Wallangarra	12011
	Ð	IN}	Nott Maud, Innisvale, Girilambone	72632
^	Q	Jaf	Stevenson James, Myala, Marshall Mount, Dapto	72677
		1 w }	Sullivan John Jr., Tottenham	72339
	72708	¥}	Warran William, Lennon's Lease, Gan-	72629
	C*	£}	King Roderick Kenneth, Tikumbi, Box 22, Byron Bay	72633
_	5	⊛}	Hilton Daniel Les, Inglelands, Megalong	72760
	_		and the second shift for second	

Illawarra Mercury (Wollongong, NSW : 1856 - 1950) / Fri 8 Oct 1943 / Page 6 / DEATH OF COUNCILLOR JAMES STEVENSON, J.P.



DEATH OF COUNCILLOR JAMES STEVENSON, J.P.

The rapid and widespread dessiminlon lake on Skitriday of the news of e sudden dennies of vanisher James swearen, of the Shitre of Central iswarra, who has been in the foreon lof public life and more particurity in the Dapis district for about years, caused a profound about to the community at large, for it was stirely unexpected, and in his home rele it was even more so, for that orning, when he had departed in the

n Park, with the intention of proding inter to Kinma to transact me business in connection with a y run, he held for his stock at Jamcos. This programme he had curarized have a stock of the stock of the stock of the stock of the proper home. The first intimation that anything toward had happened was conveyed an urgent phone message to his me to the effect that he had taken

a very bld ture on the readshee of the Schines Signway on the Upo of Sharpo Shaiharbour on the one side and up to Dunsler's on the other. Receipt of this coincided with the arrival by car on a visit to Marshall Mount of his only actor and a boother from Wite Sevenson families, including his wife, lost no time in reaching the scene in a chr driven by his brother. Mo the Stevenson, of Marshall Mount, but teach had ginedy supervend whom

If appears deceased when he felt the attack coming on, retained the presence of mind to stop the car on log reflued on the grass socking to altract attention by becloning with his hand to passing cars, but norse heeded, until Mr. Ray Carmody, who The dawneed despribed the gain he

was suffering and nequiseded to the suggestion by Mr. Carmody that his family be notified and a request made that some person be sont to drive the car home. The phone at Mr. Albert Timbs' residence nearby offered this facility and Mrs. Timbs who had a little breastly in

banefit to the sufferer. When Mr. Carmody arrived back at the roadside, Mr. Stavenson agreed to try the stimuiant as it might afford him some measure of relief. Mrs. Timbe was then about half way down from the house hastening with the brandy, but, boys and roads a second second. The roadside how much have lath at the roadside for about an hour prior to Mr. Ray Carmody's passing. A medical man had been summond from Kiama, and the

n solution of spirit at the more respectous outlook. He exclamed that is thought be would never use the study graphing at the bare. This was any solution of the second second second o that intended. It second indefinition is brighter period was dawning for his nebsity be did not live to enjoy it. Decensed, who was fit years of age was the didet son of Ars. Jane Eliza

6r. Hugh Elevennen, buk at the period f. his birth his parenta wers engaged a dairy farming at Barrengarry and he Kangaroo Valley district. Me was redded to Miles Simanah Harriss, Phose family was then conding on modalated with Marnhall Mount The arry years of his married life were been in the Valley and he later caried on dairy farming at Unanders, abbequently on Cleveland-coad applo. He purchased what is now bis noved there. He is survived by his vite and a family of four adults tugh Margaret (Mrs. G. Smith), Lyle nd Jean (Mars. A Bowley), all of the survivel here the survived by his vite and a family of four adults

Murahall Mount. Sympathy is also estanded towards the aged mother at Barry, who lately has not been onjoying the bas' of health and who keenly felt the sudden thock. Benkners of the late Mr. Stavanaon

ver Stankov (Wollingsong), Wallace (UFigtree), Hugh Alexander (Marrinal Mointi), Charles and Norman Geery and Robert (Clunes, R. R.), and hi full, Wollingsong, Olhers who will sister-in-law, who hav been for longvers a member of the househeld, and Mr. John G. Harriss, prother-in-law who since relinquishing dairy farmin has made his home with the Steven sm, whe has acquired his farm, maximale public tributo in which lead inc and acquired his farm.

tributes to his public services were heard from men like Mr. Howard Powles, MLA, Cr. L Maynus (Shire) President). E Cook (president Dapto A. & H. Society), and others who expassing and the difficulty of finding any single personage willing to perform such a multipleity of public dutlike. Prior to the departure of the fubreal from the Presbyterian Church, by Bew C. E. Tambali (Wollengene) and in the course of his remarks Rev. Turnbull said they had galarced to may a last inbut of reappet to the late Mr. James Stevenson. About his as his congregation was more converant with these over the many years deceased had lived amongs them. ILLAWARRA . AMBULANCE

MEETING OF NEW COMMETTEE

The newly elected committee of the Illawarta Ambulance met on Wedness doy night. Present Meana. Mus grave, Bevan, Simpson, Fart, Durne Diblan, Houghton, Hayes, May, Col Bogs and Supt. Brown.

n of president. Mr. Muspraves and that he did no ch the committee to think that he d a mompely of the position o airman. He would not be hurt i other mamber of the committee wa abset to the position. Mr. Muspraves name was the only

e submitted for the position, and pt. Hrown declared him elected. Mr. Musgrave, in returning thanks is he would continue to act as the d done in the past, spienvour to

officiency in all of the sick and inured. Mr. A. R. Bevan was re-elected rensurer.

The various committees were elected. The following wore elected as delegates on the deputation to the Minis-

ter for Haulth, regarding the question of altering the franchise of industrial subscriberin T. Dunns, Musgrave, Longhuest and May. CORRESTONDENCE

was forwarded as th

Bocer match, held at Wisepark-Received with thanka sun of 1200 was forwarded by st. Colongoog Greyhound Asnotiswards the Ambulance fundaod with thanks. Nerth Wollongong Life Saving Dewanded a donation of Life Co

ived with thanks. rs. Norton, Smith & Co., soticirote regarding the dispute reby the Hospital and Anthulance $P_{\rm rot}$

oycev Union to the Arbitration Consoliation Committee, on being 5 the employees of the Diawarra lise, and staling enry in July is matter enne before the Couring the second of the parties was in the second of the parties was in the first second of the parties was for the union, but the second is for the union, we show the partiest of the second of the partiest of the second of the partiest of the second of the second of the second of the second of the oblash the necessary instruce (S

ne so that she matter can be dissed of. Ws received no reply, and vs again written.—Received. from T. McIntosh, appealing against dismional from the sorvice.

FUNERAL JOENSON. - Th finds of Amolia M ion, of 80 Simithat, avited to attend her R. Michael's Church Monorow, Saturday.

H. Parsons

GRANT.-Sept. 3 Hergt. Then Len Grr of from abroad, die berough, Queensian band of Mainte, am and Jeanidit, of P norm, brother of Br und Herbert Grant, and-haw of Mr Costs. Jean-

MIN. PLORENCE

FAMILLY, of 215 Grey desire to thank Di and Staff of the W Hampital, also Wello and Rovers, relative telegrams, cards a and expressions of recent and berave opt this as our pers

A MUSICAL EVEL Male Voice Choi ing visiting artists, CONCERT OF THI St. Michael's Hall, CHARCOAL FOR Wood, Herns

FOR SALE-Second

ALBERTO GA Lagrand resident i tralia, now residin Wollengong, in the 1 Wales, intend to aption under the Nat

SEATING IS LIMP teleots garly Dr or at PALINGS, p present at the BET THE YEAR, SATU

Continued over...



been summoned from Klama, and the police were notified, but it was subso-quently learned deceased had consult-ed a Wellongroug medical practitioner some three weeks previously, who was in a position to certify as to the cause of death

In a position to controly as no one calculation of death. The circumstances of his passing the second at wave of sympathy with the widow and family and to those who had come in contact with blim on Saturday morning in Albion Park, and later at Kiama, news of his death second instead would be difficult to surpass. Twenty seven years ago he became an alderman of the Central Illswarra Municipality, and when later when it was converted into a Shire he continued to serve the people. The Dapid A & H. Soclety had his active support over a long period of years. Also the Junior Farmer's movement. He was a delegate to the South Coast & Table lands Agricultural Union. The Dapid School of Arts found in him a staunch supportor. He was president of that institution at the time it was decided the War Memorial should take the form of a new School of Arts. During active he was an active member. At a earlier period he was prominently associated with the Dapid LoO.F. of which he was a P.G., and as a Mason was a member of Lodge King Edward of which he was a former W.M. and was a Justice of the Past of the was enclosed by the was enclosed by the he was a former W.M. and was a Justice of the Past of the was enclosed by the was enclosed by the he was a former W.M. and was a Justice of the Albion Park Factory, he transferred his active part in meetings at bispatched his product through the Albion Park Factory, he transferred his active bard of Directors in seeking for a supplication of the baserd of Directors in seeking for a factory to the baserd of Directors in seeking for a part of the Hawarra Central Coordinative Darit of the baserd of the year, and the board of the baserd of Directors in seeking for a company had adopted and desired to see It a company had adopted and desired to see It a company had adopted and desired to see It a company had adopted and desired to see it a company of the plant on hand the scheme was to be put into active operation, and the last of the plant of the meeting of directors and the modern for the pla

phase of his service—he was a com-municant of the Presbylerian Church; and for about 20 years served on the committee of management of the Presbylerian Church of Ablien Park and Dapto. In adding to his tribute, Rev. Turnbull said he was a good man gone to his reward—gone to be "For-view with the Lord"—as in the hyrn and added a short prayer that these might receive the divine comfort to strengthen them in their time of need and they might be sustained by the certainly the day was coming when the would maet again. The capacity of the church was al-together too small to contain more than a fragment of the assemblage awaiting for the funeral. The pall-bearors as the coffin was borns from the church to the waiting hearse were representative of the family. These comprised four of his brothera, Hugh, Alexander, Robert, Stanley and Wal-lace, with William Parnell, nephew of deceased. The hearse was preced-sed out of the church yard by repre-manched in regulia to their waiting cars. As the cortage laft Dapto I LO.F., who marched in regulia to their waiting rereased until about a mile from Ablean Park its proportions were swelled by a waiting contingent of cars, while at the graveside at the off from the hearse were represen-tative of the Central Hawarra Shire Comprised Cr. Lindsay Maynes (Shire Presbyterian cometery, Albion Park, mind from the hearse were represen-tative of the Central Hawarra Shire Counci, Masons and Robert Fairley (Masona) and Cr. Dulay and Maurices Selon (LO.F.). Mr. Lindsay Evans is a former president of Dapto A. & H. Sorderly, president of Dapto A. So fa Committee, while on behalf of the presbyterian cometery Albion Park, mind Sorter president of Dapto A. & H. Sorter, Wern Bero, McOory, of Lodge Wing deceased in other directions. The selon the Mill Sectional Committee of the P.P.U. so apart from representing the Masons was intimately associated with deceased in other directions. The sender a service was conducted by Very Wor. Bero, McCovy, of Lodge King Edward, while on behalf of the Dapto

Continued over...



As any grammer the action winding to share the second of th

Document Set ID: 20513546 Version: 5, Version Date: 08/03/2023



South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954) / Fri 8 Oct 1943 / Page 5 / Obituary munity.

while ? Ð of. here Q after 1 20 quick this for orts. His ill. 5 ear. Com while on many cked to learn death of his Florence, apathy of the stended in the ornt she has lso to his stepn Boyd. NERAL was held yes-n, the remains in the Woll-trian cemetery urabull cone graveside, g reference to atmore, whom remained cheer ufferings oc-illness. He the devoted is late wife ate ortege was a ative one and councillors of cal governing -

Mr. JAMES STEVENSON

Mr. JAMES STEVENSON The death occurred suddenly on Saturday afternoon of Mr. James Stevenson, a widely known and oppular resident of Marshall Mt. and Dapto. He was returning by car from Kiama when he took ill, so pulled up near the Sheliharbour turn-off. For some time he endeavord to attract the attention of passers-by and finally Mr. Ray Carmody came along. The latter rang for assistance but Mr. Stevenson pass ed away before the arrival of the doctor.

ed away before the arrival of the doctor. Aged 61 years, he was a son of Mrs. Stevenson, of Berry and the late Mr. Hugh Stevenson. He had been associated with dairy farm-ing all his life and his cheerful personality and bright disposition had wog the respect and esteem of a wide circle of friends. He settled first at Dapto, but nincteen years ago moved to Marshall Mount. Always to the forefront in any





Dungog Chronicle : Durham and Gloucester Advertiser (NSW : 1894 - 1954) / Wed 13 Feb 1952 / Page 4 / FIRST SETTLERS



is in

On a visit to this country he met and murried Blanche, a daughter of ol Johnston Leaving India he sett- od at King's Gift which he renamed orsley after the Weston family at in England and amongst his porting activities introduced the rst pack of hounds to Australia.	
rst pack of hounds to Austrana.	

Cordial M	lanufacturers		
DUNGOG A	ND GLOUCESTER		
ALL FLAVOURS STOCKED			
	equested to return all ty bottles		
- PHO	ONE 193 —		
at his Regist	ries Edward Bennett teres Printing Works, wet. Dungog, N.S.W.		

Mount Terry and Terry St. Albion Park

Park Early comers saw in the open spaces here some resemblance to the parklands of far away England or Al-bion, hence the name Albion Fark The 400-acres balance of the es-tate will be submitted by public ane-tion at Wollongong by J. N King & Sons on Saturday, March 5 and this will mean the passing of the last of the Illawarra estates. Interest runs high as to what a meadow property like that occupied by Mr Faulks will realise by auction on the open market in these days. — "Farmer & Settler."

roadway clear denied the public all is just next to the there are the busine there are the busine vehicles are in front I agree they move to and have an excuse front of their busine what about the profe only use their cars b only use their ears 5 meals and return boy would give them an i to their cars if they the nearby side stre that there will be acc vers back out and faing traffic. The drive be obscured. The "ja about one day a wee and the new angle pa-nil the weeks. Sometimes you coul up Dowling Street and little consideration b parkers, business and would save the need ing. Anyhow, are bik

ing. Anyhow, are included They'll co gutters My idea is to of room in side a that are left for hor times all day This in from the country for Over the trouble by it to a specified period 1

You

South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954) / Mon 18 Feb 1952 / Page 1 / Last Sections of Historic Property to be Sold



10 1910 may
A MAR



Albiot Estate,

otable in addi-action such as interview of the line warra esta reputation for heavily on the meadow f states has savy milk farms of

Research Ninety Feet Inside a Glacier

glaciers in B

Q Q

×

5

producing Ayrshire an option given to farm attached to every their plan. grandson of the late as also been following

Mr. and a stud J. F. good herd prohis recapacity a 150 guineas. of

liked LOG guineas. Due to advancing years. Mr. Paults did exercise the option to buy and interest will keen to see what a highly productive farm builts on the open market and now particly of a farfore lind has been deteched and operation more than made by the inclusion better class and meadow land. A stream now runs right through the hold-in addition to frontage to the Macquards

ent grazing land enjoys access

ig sale will mark the com-ther hands of the grant of January 1817 by Governor to Lieut. Colonel George e time commandant of the o had figure

r he had been presented with 2000 r prospect in the County of Cumber-reward for his service in quelling a surrection of convicts at Vinegar Hill, acres land serior

w Wing this mas

made in January 1817 by Governor facquarie to Lieut. Colonel George - the one time commandant of the ps, who had figured so prominently h rebellion when that governor was had been presented with 2000 pect in the County of Cumber-

King, this w

lived the

ive. t nge to

given the he came wife rety in

such a backgr of good horses eston at the h 85 0 E. H.

the distance in 5 min. 10 sees time for those days - Creamy Jack

Mr. E. the fin H

at Flem

Lop paid £1500 for th in the hope of getting as

Incidentally Mr. C. B. West Park displays with pride to West Greamy Jose on of Alb Park displays with pride roughless won through Drak displays with pride roughless won through Greamy Jack including the Amateur Cup, sub-lect of the dead-heast run-ord and as prited by gentlemen; riders of that day. Mr. Watauki konves ridden by his two sons and two daughters won conspicuous suc-cess in South Coast show rings while his team

tralla in the hope of getting another Creamy Jack.

Jack. The identially Mr. C. B. Weston of Albion Park displays with pride trophles won through Creany Jack including the Amateur Cup, sub-ject of the dead-heat run-off and so prized by gentlemen; riders of that day. Mr. Weston's horses ridden by his two sons and two daughters won conspicuous suc-cess in South Coast show rings while his team of hunters were famous.

of the

did

re It ht in 1815

the bind of a party which hacked its way held to lead a party which hacked its way held to be based from Appin and made a down the mountain to investigate a story him by natives that there was plently of and water at Pive Islands. The story confirmed, he brought his stock and exceted his stockyards hat is now Wollongoog.

According to a tradition family the Colonel had, in	
time, during a dire drough despatched yearlings by	The second state of a
brought ashore at Five Islan	
district. These were despat- later Albion Park district.	
J. N. King and Sons s	A CONTRACT
Saturday March 8, will subi	AND A DESCRIPTION OF

at N auc-1 8, Ma 400 abmit by put

> Rockefeller Center unique 15-building d e v elopment in New York City, covers an area of more than 12 acres in the heart of the city's business district.

In the foreground of this striking ariel view are four 7-story structures. The tall th ing in th the 70-st · Indiana · 25 Corpo Americ 197 began in

the most recent addition was com-pleted in 1947.





ADVICE AND STATEMENT OF REASONS

WOLLONGONG CITY COUNCIL - WOLLONGONG LOCAL PLANNING PANEL (WLPP)

DATE OF MEETING	31/10/22
PANEL MEMBERS	Sue Francis (Chair), Scott Lee (Expert Panel Member), Larissa Ozog (Expert Panel Member)

Meeting held at Wollongong City Council, 41 Burelli Street, Wollongong on 31/10/22 opened at 1.15pm and closed at 5:00pm.

MATTER DETERMINED

Item 2 – Possible Planning Proposal – Proposed Heritage listing of Miala House and dairy - 410 Marshall Mount Road, Marshall Mount

PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS

The Panel heard from:

- Tony Pizzolato Modern
- Jesse Lu Modern
- Karyn McLeod Eco Logical
- Michael Rodger UrbanCo
- Joel Thompson WCC Heritage Coordinator

PANEL CONSIDERATION

The Panel considered the Council officer's report, the applicant's Heritage Studies, the Council Heritage report, the material presented at the meeting and meeting discussion.

PANEL DECISION

- 1. The Panel supports the preparation of a draft Planning Proposal for the heritage listing of Miala House and dairy complex and supports Council's proposed mapping of the curtilage which incorporates the figtree.
- 2. The Panel considers the figtree is significant in its own right, as a landscape feature, and should be retained. No evidence has been provided that the tree is unhealthy or at the end of its useful life.
- 3. As part of the Neighbourhood Plan, Council officers need to consider whether there are alternate and feasible road alignments that achieve an appropriate collector road that don't impact on the Miala house and figtree.
- 4. The Panel considers that the retention of Miala house and dairy complex provides future opportunity for other uses that will complement and enhance the future neighbourhood, similar to Coral Vale at Wongawilli.
- 5. The Panel recommends that as part of the Planning Proposal the Minimum Lot Size for the site be increase to 2000m2 or to match the proposed curtilage, to preclude subdivision of the site.

The decision was unanimous

PANEL MEMBERS	
Jue Juai	2030g.
Sue Francis	Larissa Ozog
(Chair)	



20 March 2023 604

HU

Scott Lee





Heritage Item - General



Proposed Heritage Item Miala House and Dairy Complex including Fig tree* 410 Marshall Mount Road, Marshall Mount

Drawn By: J Lewis	×
Date: 16.11.2022	
Proposed Heritage Item.n	nxd
0	80
Meters	





V	Proposed Minimum Lot Size Map	Drawn By: J Lewis Date: 16.11.2022	W W E
		Proposed Heritage Item.mxd	
wollongong city of innovation		0 Meters	125